ABSTRACT

SANDERS II, CHARLES WILLIAM. Reproductive Parameters, Heavy Metal Concentrations, and Disease Prevalence in North American River Otters (*Lontra canadensis*) across North Carolina. (Under the direction of Dr. Christopher DePerno).

The North American river otter (*Lontra canadensis*; hereafter otter) is the largest mustelid in North Carolina and was distributed statewide. Populations were decimated by the early 1900s and otter trapping was prohibited in 1938, reopened in 1947, and gradually expanded until 2005. The North Carolina Wildlife Resources Commission (NCWRC) and Great Smoky Mountains National Park combined to release 404 otters to restore populations in western North Carolina. River otters are currently the only harvested otter species worldwide and populations are closely monitored.

Diseases may have an impact on the otter population and other aquatic mammals, through exposure to emerging diseases, contact with domestic animals (e.g., domestic cats), or less robust condition of individuals. Leptospirosis and toxoplasmosis are priority zoonoses and maintained by domestic and wild mammals. Although parvovirus is not zoonotic, it affects pets causing mild to fatal symptoms. Even though biomagnification makes aquatic apex predators particularly vulnerable to environmental contaminants, no prior information exists on the North Carolina otter population.

To determine population dynamics, disease prevalence, and levels of contamination we worked throughout the three Furbearer Management Units (FMUs) and 14 river basins in North Carolina to collect carcasses from trappers during the trapping seasons established by the NCWRC. During 1978-1980 (Period One; Coastal Plain and Piedmont) and the 2009-2013/2014-2016 (Period Two; statewide) trapping seasons, we collected otter carcasses from licensed trappers, fur buyers, and wildlife damage control agents. We conducted necropsies,

analyzed age structure, counted corpora lutea and fetuses for fecundity estimates (Chapter 1), tested brain and kidney tissue for leptospirosis, parvovirus, and toxoplasmosis (Chapter 2), and determined the liver and kidney concentrations of arsenic, cadmium, calcium, cobalt, copper, iron, lead, magnesium, manganese, mercury, molybdenum, selenium, thallium, and zinc (Chapter 3).

During Period One, 617 otter carcasses (330 male, 287 female) were collected from the Coastal Plain and Piedmont. During Period Two, we collected 822 (524 male, 298 female) otter carcasses across North Carolina. Age distributions for all otters were skewed toward the younger age classes and did not differ between collection periods. We detected a 45% increase in fecundity overall between Periods One and Two, and reproduction that was absent by juvenile and yearling otters during Period One was present during Period Two. Three otters (1%) tested positive for *Leptospira interrogans*, 41 (19%) for *Parvovirus* spp, and 53 (24%) for *Toxoplasma gondii*. All elements except for cadmium were detected at higher levels in liver samples compared to kidney samples. Most element concentrations remained stable or increased with age. Some river basins and FMUs were significantly higher than the others.

Our results indicate the reproductive distribution has gradually shifted to include younger otters. There are many drivers of reproduction, including food, habitat, environmental contaminants, and population in general. However, otter populations may experience different age structure and fecundity levels depending on harvest pressure and environmental stressors. Although parvovirus and toxoplasmosis are relatively common in North Carolina otters, the otter harvest has remained steady and the population appears to be abundant and self-sustaining. Therefore, parvovirus and toxoplasmosis do not currently appear to be negatively impacting the population. None of the elements we tested occurred at toxic levels. Our research establishes baseline concentration levels for North Carolina which will benefit future monitoring efforts and provide insight into future changes in the otter population. Harvest should be closely monitored and regulated, and future studies should assess the effects of disease and environmental stressors on otters and other semi-aquatic mammals, examine transmission parameters between domestic and wild species, and the sublethal effects of infection. © Copyright 2019 Charles W. Sanders II

All Rights Reserved

Reproductive Parameters, Heavy Metal Concentrations, and Disease Prevalence in North American River Otters (*Lontra canadensis*) Across North Carolina

by Charles William Sanders II

A thesis submitted to the Graduate Faculty of North Carolina State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

Fisheries, Wildlife, and Conservation Biology

Raleigh, North Carolina 2019

APPROVED BY:

Christopher S. DePerno Chair of Advisory Committee J. Krishna Pacifici

George R. Hess

DEDICATION

To my wife, Tiffany, for her love and unwavering support, my children, Amanda and Melody, for their patience and understanding, my mother, Brenda, for the dedication she inspired, and my father, Ronald, for instilling a love of all things wild.

BIOGRAPHY

Charles William Sanders II was born in Wilmington, North Carolina, on June 12, 1980. The youngest of four children, he began following his father through the woods almost as soon as he could walk, and developed a passion and appreciation for nature, wildlife, hunting, fishing, and eventually trapping. He graduated from Topsail High School (Hampstead, NC) in 1998. He spent two years serving as a missionary in Atlantic Canada for the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, earned an A.A.S. degree in Automotive Systems Technology from Cape Fear Community College (Wilmington, NC) in 2002, and served a short stint as a Satellite Systems Operator/Maintainer in the United States Army. He met his wife, Tiffany, while in the Army and they married in 2003. They have two daughters, Amanda and Melody. He entered North Carolina State University's Fisheries, Wildlife, and Conservation Biology Program in 2009 to pursue his lifelong dream of becoming a wildlife biologist. He completed a Bachelor of Science Degree in that program, with dual concentrations in Wildlife and Fisheries, and a minor in Forest Management in May 2013. He then served as a wildlife technician for the Kentucky Department of Fish and Wildlife and the North Carolina Wildlife Resources Commission. In August 2015 he reentered the Fisheries, Wildlife, and Conservation Biology Program at N.C. State University to begin work on his Master of Science Degree. He earned a Graduate Certificate in Geographic Information Systems in 2018, and his M.S. Degree in Fisheries, Wildlife, and Conservation Biology in 2019. He hopes to transition to a full-time wildlife biologist position working with furbearers and/or in human/wildlife conflict.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research was made possible by funding from the North Carolina Wildlife Resources Commission (NCWRC), the Federal Aid to Wildlife Restoration Program, the Fisheries, Wildlife, and Conservation Biology Program at North Carolina State University (NCSU), and the North Carolina Trappers' Association (NCTA). I thank my technicians Shannon Ryan, Chance Curnette, Amber Bumgardner, Bella Vassos, Hannah Deasy, and Morgan Koontz for many hours of dedicated and tedious labor in a lab setting that often left much to be desired. I thank IDEXX Laboratories and the Pennsylvania Animal Diagnostics Laboratory for their swift and dedicated lab work. I thank Geriann Albers of the Indiana Department of Natural Resources and Casey Dukes of the NCWRC Furbearer Management Team for their support and help with fieldwork. I appreciate the support of the United States Forest Service in Pisgah and Nantahala National Forests for their support in trapping. I thank Todd Menke and the staff of the USDA-APHIS-Wildlife Services program in North Carolina for providing specimens, support, and advice. I thank Dr. Krishna Pacifici and Dr. George Hess for their input, support, advice, and answering endless questions. I thank Benjamin Hess of the University of Michigan and the North Carolina Museum of Natural Resources for their help in processing and cataloging specimens, as well as taking the specimens into their collection. I thank Dr. Christopher DePerno of NCSU and Colleen Olfenbuttel of the NCWRC for acting as mentors to me during this journey, and for never giving up on me regardless of how much gray hair I caused. I thank Cindy Burke, Sarah Slover, and Sydna Willis of NCSU and Shauna Glover and Michael Mobley of the NCWRC for administrative assistance. I thank the North Carolina Trappers' Association and its members for providing the otter carcasses and immense support for this project. Finally, I thank my wife,

children, parents, and the rest of my family for all of their love, support, and patience over the years. I could not have done it otherwise.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
CHAPTER 1. VARIATIONS IN REPRODUCTION AND AGE STRUCTURE	IN THE
NORTH AMERICAN RIVER OTTER (Lontra canadensis) IN NORTH CARC	DLINA 1
Abstract	1
Introduction	2
Study Area	4
Methods	5
Data Collection	5
Data Analysis	5
Results	6
Discussion	9
Management Implications	
Acknowledgments	
Literature Cited	
CHAPTER 2. LEPTOSPIROSIS, PARVOVIRUS, AND TOXOPLASMOSIS I	N THE
NORTH AMERICAN RIVER OTTER (Lontra canadensis) IN NORTH CARC	DLINA 31
Abstract	
Introduction	
Study Area	
Methods	
Data Collection	35
Data Management and Modeling	
Results	
Discussion	
Acknowledgments	
Literature Cited	
CHAPTER 3. METALS CONTAMINATION OF RIVER OTTERS IN NORT	H
CAROLINA	65
Abstract	65
Introduction	66
Study Area	69
Methods	70
Data Collection	70
Data Management and Modeling	70
Results	71
Discussion	74
Acknowledgments	78
Literature Cited	

LIST OF TABLES

CHAPTER 1

Table 1	Corpora lutea and fetus counts in river otters (<i>Lontra canadensis</i>) for Period One (1978-80) and Period Two (2009-16) in North Carolina, USA by Furbearer Management Unit (FMU) and age class. Otters less than a year old were considered juveniles, one-year-old otters are considered yearlings, and all otters age two or older were considered adults	5
Table 2	Model selection results using Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC) for the effect of age and Furbearer Management Unit (FMU) on corpora lutea and fetus counts for river otters (<i>Lontra canadensis</i>) in North Carolina, USA in November-February 2009-16	5
Table 3	Model-averaged coefficients for the effects of age (per year) and Furbearer Management Unit (FMU) on the corpora lutea and fetus counts of river otter (<i>Lontra canadensis</i>) in North Carolina during 2009-201627	7
CHAPTE	R 2	
Table 1	Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) results for each disease tested on 220 river otters (<i>Lontra canadensis</i>) from North Carolina, 2014-2015 and 2015-2016	7
Table 2	Prevalence of <i>Leptospira interrogans</i> , <i>Parvovirus</i> spp., and <i>Toxoplasma gondii</i> in 220 river otters (<i>Lontra canadensis</i>) from North Carolina, 2014-2015 and 2015-2016.	3
Table 3	Prevalence of <i>Leptospira interrogans</i> , <i>Parvovirus</i> spp., and <i>Toxoplasma gondii</i> in 220 river otters (<i>Lontra canadensis</i>) from North Carolina, 2014-2015 and 2015-2016.)
Table 4	Model selection results using Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC) for the effect of sex, age, river basin, and region on whether river otters tested positive for <i>Parvovirus</i> spp. by PCR (<i>Lontra canadensis</i>) in North Carolina, USA in November-February 2014-16)
Table 5	Model-averaged coefficients for the effects of age (per year), sex, region, and river basin on whether river otters (<i>Lontra canadensis</i>) tested positive for <i>Parvovirus</i> spp. by PCR in North Carolina during 2014-2016	1
CHAPTE	R 3	
Table 1	Heavy and trace element loads in 317 North Carolina river otters (<i>Lontra canadensis</i>), 2009-201697	7

Table 2a	Heavy and trace elements from livers by age class in 317 North Carolina river otters (<i>Lontra canadensis</i>), 2009-2016)8
Table 2b	Heavy and trace elements from kidneys by age class in 317 North Carolina river otters (<i>Lontra canadensis</i>), 2009-20169	19
Table 3a	Heavy and trace elements from livers by sex and Furbearer Management Unit in 317 North Carolina river otters (<i>Lontra canadensis</i>), 2009-20161	00
Table 3b	Heavy and trace elements from kidneys by sex and Furbearer Management Unit in 317 North Carolina river otters (<i>Lontra canadensis</i>), 2009-20161	01
Table 4a	Heavy and trace elements from livers by Mountain/Piedmont river basin in 317 North Carolina river otters (<i>Lontra canadensis</i>), 2009-20161	02
Table 4b	Heavy and trace elements from livers by Piedmont/Coastal Plain river basin in 317 North Carolina river otters (<i>Lontra canadensis</i>), 2009-20161	03
Table 5a	Heavy and trace elements from kidneys by Mountain/Piedmont river basin in 317 North Carolina river otters (<i>Lontra canadensis</i>), 2009-20161	04
Table 5b	Heavy and trace elements from kidneys by Piedmont/Coastal Plain river basin in 317 North Carolina river otters (<i>Lontra canadensis</i>), 2009-20161	05
Table 6	Heavy and trace metal loads in river otters (<i>Lontra canadensis</i>) from other studies	06

LIST OF FIGURES

CHAPTER 1

Figure 1	Furbearer Management Units and river basins of North Carolina, 1978-201628
Figure 2	River otter (<i>Lontra canadensis</i>) trapping seasons from 1946 - present in North Carolina
Figure 3	Age distribution of harvested river otters (<i>Lontra canadensis</i>) during Period One (1978-1980) and Period Two (2009-2016) in North Carolina30
CHAPTER	R 2
Figure 1	River Basins and Furbearer Management Units in North Carolina, 2014-2015 and 2015-2016
Figure 2	Probabilities of <i>Parvovirus</i> spp. infection in harvested North American river otters (<i>Lontra canadensis</i>) in North Carolina, 2014-2015 and 2015-2016
Figure 3	Probabilities of <i>T. gondii</i> infection in harvested North American river otters (<i>Lontra canadensis</i>) in North Carolina, 2014-2015 and 2015-2016
СНАРТЕБ	R 3

Figure 1 Furbearer management units (FMU) and river basins of North Carolina	107
--	-----

CHAPTER ONE

VARIATIONS IN REPRODUCTION AND AGE STRUCTURE IN THE NORTH AMERICAN RIVER OTTER (Lontra canadensis) IN NORTH CAROLINA, USA

ABSTRACT

During colonial times the North American river otter (Lontra canadensis) was distributed across North Carolina, but populations were decimated by the early 1900s. Otter trapping was prohibited in 1938, reopened in 1947, and gradually expanded until it was opened statewide in 2005. Between 1986-1992, the North Carolina Wildlife Resources Commission (NCWRC) and Great Smoky Mountains National Park combined to release 404 otters in translocation efforts to restore populations in western North Carolina. River otters are the only harvested otters worldwide, and populations are closely monitored through surveys, necropsies, and tooth collections. We worked throughout the three Furbearer Management Units and 14 river basins in North Carolina to collect carcasses from licensed trappers. We collected otters during the trapping seasons established by the NCWRC. During the 1978-80 (Period One; Coastal Plain) trapping seasons, and in the current study during 2009-2013/2014-2016 (Period Two; statewide) trapping seasons, we collected otter carcasses from licensed trappers, fur buyers, and wildlife damage control agents. We conducted necropsies, used cementum annuli of the lower canine for age-analysis, and counted corpora lutea and fetuses for fecundity estimates. During Period One, we collected 617 otter carcasses (330 male, 287 female) from the Coastal Plain and Piedmont FMUs. During Period Two, we collected 822 (524 male, 298 female) otter carcasses across North Carolina. Age distributions for all otters were skewed toward the younger age classes and

did not differ between collection periods. During Period One, adults in the Coastal Plain had higher corpora lutea counts than during Period Two, while Coastal Plain yearlings and juveniles had higher numbers of corpora lutea during Period Two. During Period Two, corpora lutea counts differed by region, with the Mountain FMU ($\bar{x} = 2.6$) significantly higher than the Coastal Plain FMU ($\bar{x} = 1.6$), or the Piedmont FMU ($\bar{x} = 1.9$). Within the Coastal Plain FMU, total reproduction increased by 45% from Period One to Period Two. Although the adult reproduction in the Coastal Plain FMU dropped 16% from Period One to Period Two, juveniles and yearlings began reproducing regularly between periods. Our results indicate that reproduction has shifted from 1978 to 2018 to include younger otters. Reproduction in wildlife populations is driven by food, habitat, environmental contaminants, and density dependence within the population. However, otter populations across the range may experience different age structure and fecundity levels depending on harvest pressure and environmental stressors. Harvest should be closely monitored and regulated, and future studies should be conducted to further assess the effects of environmental stressors (e.g., contaminants, water quality) on otters and other semi-aquatic mammals including beaver, muskrat, mink, and nutria.

KEYWORDS

age structure, corpora lutea, juvenile, *Lontra canadensis*, reproduction, river otter, variation, yearling

INTRODUCTION

In North Carolina, colonial records indicate a statewide distribution of North American river otters (*Lontra canadensis*; hereafter otter) until the late 19th century. In the early 20th

century, poor farming and logging practices devastated streams, which coupled with unregulated otter harvest, decimated otter populations in the Piedmont and Mountain Furbearer Management Units (FMUs; Figure 1). In the Coastal Plain FMU, large swamps and wetlands provided a refuge that buffered the surviving otter populations (Wilson 1960, Melquist and Dronkert 1987).

North Carolina prohibited otter trapping from 1938-1946 (Wilson 1960). From 1947 -1983, the newly created North Carolina Wildlife Resources Commission (NCWRC) restricted otter harvest to the east of US highway one, within the Coastal Plain FMU and the eastern edge of the Piedmont FMU (Figure 2). From 1984-2005, the regulated trapping season was expanded to encompass much of the Piedmont FMU, extending to the eastern boundaries of Stokes, Forsyth, Davie, Iredell, and Mecklenburg counties (Figure 2). In fall of 2005, the otter trapping season was opened statewide, including the entire Mountain FMU.

Between 1986-1992, otters (81 male, 56 female) were translocated by the National Park Service from Louisiana, North Carolina, and South Carolina into the Great Smoky Mountains National Park (Griess 1987, Raesly 2001). Between 1988-1996, the NCWRC translocated otters (160 male, 107 female) from the Coastal Plain FMU to the Mountain FMU (Spelman 1998). Today, otters occupy all three physiographic regions of North Carolina (Mountain, Piedmont, Coastal Plain) with a statewide otter trapping season and no bag limits.

The North American river otter is the only species of otter that is legally harvested for the fur trade (Melquist and Dronkert 1987, Serfass et al. 2015). In 1990 the International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources Species Survival Commission (IUCN/SSC) Otter Specialist Group published a voluntary action plan for the management of river otters in the United States and Canada (Foster-Turley et al. 1990). The plan included recommendations of the "Working Group on Bobcat, Lynx, and River Otter" to monitor population trends, total

3

harvest, harvest distribution, and habitat evaluation, as well as to analyze harvested animals for reproduction, pollutants, and other factors (Foster-Turley et al. 1990).

The NCWRC regularly monitors the otter harvest through volunteer trapper surveys, fur buyer reporting, and Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species (CITES) tag sales. Voluntary carcass collections are periodically conducted to monitor reproduction, and an annual tooth/skull collection has been initiated for age structure analysis. These processes help fulfill the Otter Specialist Group's first and third recommended conservation priorities (Foster-Turley et al. 1990), which include evaluating the population status of otter populations and analyzing carcasses to increase knowledge of otter reproduction. Therefore, our objective was to determine the age structure and reproductive rates of otters throughout North Carolina and determine if those rates changed by river basin, FMU, and time periods, and varied by age class. We hypothesized that reproduction would vary in the Coastal Plain FMU from 1978 to 2018, would be higher in a reintroduced population (Mountain FMU) compared to a stable population (Coastal Plain FMU), or a population with natural recolonization (Piedmont FMU).

STUDY AREA

We conducted our study across North Carolina. North Carolina is geographically diverse with fourteen different river basins, seventeen terrestrial, and eleven wetland communities (North Carolina Wildlife Resources Commission 2015). For management purposes, the NCWRC established three FMU's (i.e., Mountain, Piedmont, and Coastal Plain) which followed physiographic regions and county boundaries (Figure 1). River otters have been stable within the Coastal Plain FMU since 1978, recolonized the Piedmont FMU naturally by 1984, and were reintroduced into the Mountain FMU between 1986-1992.

METHODS

Data Collection

During 1978-80 (Period One; Coastal Plain and Piedmont FMU) and the 2009-2013/2014-2016 (Period Two; statewide) trapping seasons, we collected otter carcasses from licensed trappers, fur buyers, and wildlife damage control agents. For all otters collected, we recorded the date and location trapped which included specific coordinates, addresses, and/or a general description of the trap site. General descriptions included the county, locality, roads, and any prominent landmarks.

We froze all carcasses until necropsy. During the necropsy, we extracted a lower canine tooth for cementum annuli aging (Stephenson 1977). The samples from Period One were aged at NCSU while the samples from Period Two were sent to Matson's Laboratory (Manhattan, Montana). Otters aged as zero were considered juveniles, otters aged as one-year-old were considered yearlings, and otters aged two years or older were considered adults. We removed female reproductive tracts and preserved them in a 10% formalin solution. We sectioned each ovary in one mm slices similar to Hamilton and Eadie (1964) and counted active corpora lutea. We dissected the uterine horns and counted visible fetuses. During Period One, blastocysts were collected by flushing each uterine horn with sterilized water and examining under a microscope. During Period Two, because blastocysts are quickly degraded (Johnson et al. 2007) we did not collect blastocysts and only report corpora lutea which is consistent with the literature (Docktor et al. 1987, Chilelli et al. 1996, Crimmins et al. 2011)

Data Analysis

We conducted statistical analysis in SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute, Inc, Cary, North Carolina, USA) using Proc TTEST for t-tests, Proc ANOVA for ANOVAs, and Proc GENMOD for

models. We used two-sample t-tests and one-way ANOVA to determine significant differences between Periods One and Two (1978-1980 vs 2009-2013/2014-2016) and between FMUs. We used Tukey's Honestly Significant Difference (HSD) test to examine differences within variables. We used a paired t-test to compare corpora lutea and fetus counts during Period One and Period Two and used a one-way ANOVA to determine difference across age classes. We used Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC) to assess model weights and rank candidate models (Burnham and Anderson 2002). Our generalized linear models contained fixed effects and we limited our candidate model set to two a priori categorical covariates, age and region, to avoid including spurious effects. Due to sample sizes not being distributed across all basins we did not use river basin in our models. We developed relative support for the models by using Akaike weights and then calculated the unconditional variance estimates with their associated 95% confidence intervals (Burnham and Anderson 2002, Anderson 2008).

RESULTS

During Period One, from over 50 trappers and fur dealers, we collected 617 otter carcasses (330 male, 287 female) from the Coastal Plain FMU (315 male, 287 female) and Piedmont FMU (15 males) and determined ages for 330 males and 274 females. No females were collected from the Piedmont FMU during Period One. During Period Two, we collected 822 (524 male, 298 female) otter carcasses across North Carolina from over 50 trappers and fur dealers. We collected 54 from the Mountain FMU (34 male, 20 female), 322 from the Piedmont FMU (204 male, 118 female), and 446 from the Coastal Plain FMU (286 male, 160 female). We obtained ages for all but 4 specimens (2 males, 2 females). During Period One, the average age of males (n = 330) and females (n = 274) were 1.9 and 1.7, respectively. During Period 2, the average age of males (n = 524) and females (n = 298) were 2.0 and 1.7, respectively. Age distributions for all otters combined across collection periods were skewed toward the younger age classes (Figure 3) and did not differ between collection period (t = -0.82, df = 1213, P = 0.4121). For the Coastal Plain FMU, age distributions that included males and females were similar between collection periods (t = 0.20, df = 417, P = 0.84). During Period Two, male and female age distributions differed within the Piedmont FMU (male = 2.2, female = 1.7; F = 4.34, df = 319, P = 0.038), but were similar in the Mountain FMU (male = 1.9, female = 1.8; F = 0.16, df = 52, P = 0.689) and Coastal Plain FMU (male = 1.6, female = 1.6; F = 0.95, df = 444, P = 0.330).

During Period One, the number of corpora lutea for all Coastal Plain females averaged 1.1. Corpora lutea for juveniles ($\bar{x} = 0.02$), yearlings ($\bar{x} = 0.0$), and adults ($\bar{x} = 2.5$) were significantly different (F = 248.06, df = 270, P < 0.0001) (Table 1), with adults being more likely to have active corpora lutea than yearlings or juveniles (Q = 3.33, df = 270, $\alpha = 0.05$). During Period Two, the number of corpora lutea for Coastal Plain females across all age classes averaged 1.6. Corpora lutea for juveniles ($\bar{x} = 1.1$), yearlings ($\bar{x} = 1.4$), and adults ($\bar{x} = 2.0$) were significantly different (F = 12.96, df = 143, P < 0.0001) (Table 1); adults were more likely to have corpora lutea than yearlings or juveniles (Q = 3.35, df = 143, $\alpha = 0.05$). Within the Coastal Plain FMU, corpora lutea counts differed between Period One ($\bar{x} = 1.05$) and Period Two ($\bar{x} = 1.62$; t = 4.12, df = 420, P < 0.0001). Adults during Period One produced higher corpora lutea counts than during Period Two (t = -2.53, df = 166, P = 0.0122), while yearlings (t = 11.96, df = 47, P < 0.0001) and juveniles (t = 6.92, df = 35, P < 0.0001) produced higher counts of corpora lutea during Period Two.

During Period Two, corpora lutea counts differed by FMU (F = 8.44, df = 277, P =

0.0003); the Mountains ($\bar{x} = 2.6$) were significantly higher (Q = 3.33, df = 275, $\alpha = 0.05$) than the Piedmont ($\bar{x} = 1.9$) and Coastal Plain ($\bar{x} = 1.6$). The top model for corpora lutea incorporated FMU as a classification variable and age as a numeric variable with all effects fixed. This model held 99% of the model weight, and the next closest model was over 13 Δ AIC away, and all covariates were significant via model averaging (Tables 2, 3).

During Period One, the number of fetal counts for all Coastal Plain females averaged 0.8. Adults averaged 2.0 fetuses and were significantly higher (F = 173.37, df = 270, P < 0.0001) than juveniles ($\bar{x} = 0.0$) and yearlings ($\bar{x} = 0.0$; Q = 3.33, df = 270, $\alpha = 0.05$). During Period Two, the number of fetuses for all Coastal Plain females, regardless of age class, averaged 0.5 (Table 1). Fetus counts were significantly different across age classes (F = 13.45, df = 142, P < 0.0001); adults ($\bar{x} = 1.0$) were greater than yearlings ($\bar{x} = 0.2$) and juveniles ($\bar{x} = 0.0$; Q = 3.35, df = 142, $\alpha = 0.05$). Fetus counts for all females from the Coastal Plain FMU differed between Period One ($\bar{x} = 0.8$) and Period Two ($\bar{x} = 0.5$; t = -2.51, df = 419, P = 0.0126). Adults during Period One produced higher fetus counts ($\bar{x} = 2.0$) than during Period Two ($\bar{x} = 1.0$; t = -4.50, df = 174, P < 0.0001), while yearling differences were not significant (t = 1.75, df = 47, P = 0.0864).

During Period Two, fetus counts for all females differed by FMU (F = 3.61, df = 274, P = 0.0284); the Mountains ($\bar{x} = 1.2$) were significantly higher (Q = 3.33, df = 274, $\alpha = 0.05$) than the Piedmont ($\bar{x} = 0.5$) and Coastal Plain ($\bar{x} = 0.5$). The top model for fetus counts incorporated FMU as a classification variable and age as a numeric variable with all effects fixed. This model held 54% of the model weight. The next closest model (Age only) was only 0.4 Δ AIC away and

carried 46% of the model weight. The covariates were significant via model averaging except for the Coastal Plain FMU variable (Tables 2, 3).

We examined litters sizes by eliminating all samples without visually verified fetuses or blastocysts (blastocysts were only collected during Period One). Hence, we had 87 and 57 specimens from Periods One and Two, respectively. Corpora lutea counts ($\bar{x} = 3.0$, $\bar{x} = 2.6$) were significantly different from fetus counts during Period One ($\bar{x} = 2.6$, t = 4.90, df = 86, P <0.0001), but not Period Two ($\bar{x} = 2.6$, t = -0.11, df = 56, P = 0.9105). During Period One all specimens with visible fetuses were adults, but during Period Two we analyzed 49 adults, seven yearlings, and one juvenile. The one juvenile was aged by a broken tooth and was given a oneyear error, making it possible for it to be a yearling. Period Two corpora lutea counts ($\bar{x} = 2.7$, $\bar{x} = 2.1$) and fetus counts ($\bar{x} = 2.7$, $\bar{x} = 2.6$) were similar between adults and yearlings (F = 0.44, df = 56, P = 0.6487) suggesting that fetus counts supported the corpora lutea counts as accurate estimators of litter size and the difference between the two metrics during Period One could be from the difficulty of isolating and identifying blastocysts.

DISCUSSION

Across North Carolina, the age distribution of harvested otters was stable across the two collection periods (spanned 40 years). During Period Two, the NCWRC estimated ~2,400 otters were harvested annually and based on the age distributions the population appears to be healthy with high reproduction and recruitment. The long-term stable age distribution of harvested otters indicates that habitat is satisfactory and reproduction is stable or increasing (Sulkava et al. 2007, Barrett and Leslie, Jr. 2012, Graser et al. 2012, Rughetti 2016, Marvá and San Segundo 2018, Nadal et al. 2018). Further, an abundance of young otters in the harvest is indicative of high

recruitment and population stability (Rolley 1985, Koons et al. 2006, Flynn and Schumacher 2009, Rughetti 2016).

Within the Coastal Plain FMU, reproduction increased by 45% from Period One to Period Two. Although adult reproduction dropped 16% from Period One to Period Two, juvenile and yearling reproduction began and occurred at a much higher rate than expected during Period Two. Early reproduction has been recorded previously (Liers 1958, Crimmins et al. 2011, Barding and Lacki 2014), but not to the extent that we detected. Our results indicate the reproductive load has shifted to include juvenile and yearling otters. In general, water quality has improved over the years (White 1996), and the expansion and recolonization of beavers has provided more aquatic habitat across the landscape (Naiman et al. 1988, Snodgrass and Meffe 1998, Hood and Larson 2015) which may have contributed to the stability and recovery of the otter population across North Carolina.

The otter reintroduction during the 1990s focused on moving otters from the Coastal Plain FMU, where they were abundant, to the Mountain FMU where they had been extirpated (Spelman 1998). During Period Two, we detected higher reproductive rates in the Mountain FMU compared to the Piedmont or Coastal Plain FMUs. While the sample size in the Mountain FMU was low, the reproductive rate is consistent with other reintroduced populations (Docktor et al. 1987, Crimmins et al. 2011, Barding and Lacki 2014) and is interesting when considering that the Mountain FMU had been extirpated and reintroduced, the Piedmont FMU had been extirpated and recovered naturally, and the Coastal Plain FMU has been stable over time. While the only significant difference in reproduction was in the Mountain FMU, reproduction in the Piedmont FMU was still higher than in the Coastal Plain FMU. Further, adult otters typically average two to three pups per litter, especially in reintroduced and/or recovering populations

10

(Tabor and Wight 1977, Hill and Lauhachinda 1980, Docktor et al. 1987, Melquist and Dronkert 1987, Johnson et al. 2007, Crimmins et al. 2011, Barding and Lacki 2014). We believe this is the first time that all juveniles from a particular area (Mountain FMU) have been verified as reproductively active.

The number of juveniles and yearlings that we detected as reproductively active is encouraging. Increased fecundity in the presence of abundant resources is an established principle in wildlife management (King et al. 2003, Gamelon et al. 2017), and can explain increased litter size along with yearling and juvenile breeding activity. For example, hard and soft mast fluctuations influence the reproduction of bears, small mammals, and predators (Jensen et al. 2012, Bogdziewicz et al. 2016, Hertel et al. 2018), and food caching birds respond to food abundance (Ruffino et al. 2014). Normally, otters become reproductively active at age two, with delayed implantation causing them to produce their first litter slightly before or around their third birthday (Liers 1958, Hamilton and Eadie 1964, Melquist and Dronkert 1987). Although Liers (1958) documented captive yearling otters giving birth it has always been considered a rare event (Liers 1951, Hamilton and Eadie 1964, Docktor et al. 1987). However, in the last several years, studies of otters in reintroduced populations have observed that reproductive activity in younger individuals has become more common than once thought (Crimmins et al. 2011, Barding and Lacki 2014).

Juvenile and yearling breeding in a species known to not sexually mature until age two may be attributed to environmental pressures (Hamilton and Eadie 1964). A variety of external and internal pressures impact mammal reproduction including endocrine disrupting chemicals (Bergman et al. 2013, Pow et al. 2017), heavy metals (Rzymski et al. 2015), polychlorinated biphenyls (Henson and Chedrese 2004, Sonne et al. 2006, Murphy et al. 2015, Folland et al.

11

2016), hormones (Petrulis 2013), diet (Ruiz-Olmo et al. 2002, 2011, Ruiz-Olmo and Jiménez 2008), habitat quality (Ruiz-Olmo et al. 2011), and chemical signals (Bieber et al. 2012, Grassel et al. 2016, Coombes et al. 2018). Specifically, endocrine disrupting chemicals impact wildlife (Bergman et al. 2013, Pow et al. 2017), and North Carolina is known to have areas of high concentrations of endocrine disrupting chemicals (Sackett et al. 2015).

While the reproduction levels we observed may be driven by environmental contaminants, there are numerous studies that record breeding in river otters at earlier ages in reintroduced populations (Docktor et al. 1987, Crimmins et al. 2011, Barding and Lacki 2014). We detected breeding in juvenile and yearling otters, in a naturally recovered population (Piedmont FMU) and in a population that has been stable for decades (Coastal Plain FMU). Abundant resources contribute to reproduction, and fish abundance, in general, has improved over the course of our study (Rulifson and Batsavage 2014, Lynch et al. 2016). It is possible that North Carolina follows a similar trend to Minnesota where fisheries were recorded as generally increasing in abundance since 1970, although certain key sport fisheries were declining (Bethke and Staples 2015); but it does not fully explain why we failed to detect juvenile and yearling reproduction during the 1970s. Although the early reproduction we observed in the Mountain FMU my be attributed to the reintroduction, reintroduced populations did not always show the same effects (Chilelli et al. 1996) and we observed the same phenomena in natural regenerated (Piedmont FMU) and stable populations (Coastal Plain FMU), although at lower levels. Hence, we speculate that a combination of complex factors that include contaminants, resources, population density, and other unknown pressures may be contributing to earlier reproduction in Coastal Plain FMU otters. We suggest researchers focus on the effect each covariate has on

reproduction, which will enable us to better understand the environmental influence on otter populations.

MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

During the second half of our study, the otter trapping season was open statewide and during Period Two, the NCWRC estimated the annual harvest at ~2,400 otters, mostly in the Coastal Plain and Piedmont FMUs. Nevertheless, based on the age distributions and fecundity estimates the statewide otter population appears to be stable and healthy with high reproduction and recruitment. However, otter populations across the range may experience different age structure and fecundity levels depending on various stressors. Harvest should be closely monitored and regulated, and future studies should be conducted to further assess the effects of environmental stressors (e.g., contaminants, water quality) on otters and other semi-aquatic mammals including beaver (*Castor canadensis*), muskrat (*Ondatra zibethicus*), mink (*Neovison vison*), and nutria (*Myocastor coypus*).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the NCWRC, the Federal Aid to Wildlife Restoration program, and the Fisheries, Wildlife, and Conservation Biology program at NCSU for funding this research, as well as the North Carolina State University College of Natural Resources for their unwavering support. We thank S. Ryan for countless hours of dissections, sampling, and helping in the lab. We thank M. Stoskopf for answering questions about procedures and helping with identifications. We thank the North Carolina Trappers' Association and its members for

13

providing the otter carcasses to sample, the corresponding data, and their support of the project as a whole.

LITERATURE CITED

Anderson, D. R. 2008. Model based inference in the life sciences: a primer on evidence. Springer, New York; London.

Barding, E. E., and M. J. Lacki. 2014. Demographic and reproductive characteristics of reintroduced northern river otters in Kentucky: Implications for Population Growth. The American Midland Naturalist 172:338–347.

http://www.bioone.org/doi/abs/10.1674/0003-0031-172.2.338>. Accessed 16 Mar 2017.

Barrett, D. A., and D. M. Leslie, Jr. 2012. Spatio-temporal variations in age structures of a partially re-established population of northern river otters (*Lontra canadensis*). American Midland Naturalist 168:302–314.

http://www.jstor.org.prox.lib.ncsu.edu/stable/23269821>. Accessed 16 Mar 2017.

Bergman, A., J. J. Heindel, S. Jobling, K. A. Kidd, and R. T. Zoeller. 2013. WHO | State of the science of endocrine disrupting chemicals - 2012. United Nations Environment
Programme and the World Health Organization.

http://www.who.int/ceh/publications/endocrine/en/. Accessed 15 Apr 2018.

- Bethke, B. J., and D. F. Staples. 2015. Changes in Relative Abundance of Several Minnesota Fishes from 1970 to 2013. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 144:68–80. https://doi.org/10.1080/00028487.2014.965345>. Accessed 1 May 2019.
- Bieber, C., R. Juškaitis, C. Turbill, and T. Ruf. 2012. High survival during hibernation affects onset and timing of reproduction. Oecologia 169:155–166. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-011-2194-7>. Accessed 18 Mar 2019.

Bogdziewicz, M., R. Zwolak, and E. E. Crone. 2016. How do vertebrates respond to mast seeding? Oikos 125:300–307.

http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/oik.03012>. Accessed 18 Mar 2019.

- Burnham, K. P., and D. R. Anderson. 2002. Model Selection and Multimodel Inference: A Practical Information-theoretic Approach. Volume 2nd ed. Springer, New York. ">https://proxying.lib.ncsu.edu/index.php?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN=98897&site=ehost-live>">https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN=98897&site=ehost-live>">https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN=98897&site=ehost-live>">https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN=98897&site=ehost-live>">https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN=98897&site=ehost-live>">https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN=98897&site=ehost-live>">https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN=98897&site=ehost-live>">https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN=98897&site=ehost-live>">https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN=98897&site=ehost-live>">https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN=98897&site=ehost-live>">https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN=98897&site=ehost-live>">https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN=98897&site=ehost-live>">https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN=98897&site=ehost-live>">https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN=98897&site=ehost-live>">https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN=98897&site=ehost-live>">https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN=98897&site=ehost-live>">https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN=98897&site=ehost-live>">https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN=98897&site=ehost-live>">https://search.ebscohost.com/login.com/login.com/login.com/login.com/login.com/login.com/login.com/login.com/logi
- Chilelli, M., B. Griffith, and D. J. Harrison. 1996. Interstate comparisons of river otter harvest data. Wildlife Society Bulletin 24:238–246. https://www.jstor.org/stable/3783113. Accessed 5 Dec 2018.
- Coombes, H. A., P. Stockley, and J. L. Hurst. 2018. Female chemical signalling underlying reproduction in mammals. Journal of Chemical Ecology 44:851–873. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-018-0981-x>. Accessed 18 Mar 2019.
- Crimmins, S. M., N. M. Roberts, and D. A. Hamilton. 2011. Age-specific reproductive rates of river otters in southern Missouri. Southeastern Naturalist 10:501–508. http://www.bioone.org/doi/abs/10.1656/058.010.0309>. Accessed 8 Oct 2016.
- Docktor, C. M., R. T. Bowyer, and A. G. Clark. 1987. Number of corpora lutea as related to age and distribution of river otter in Maine. Journal of Mammalogy 68:182–185. http://links.jstor.org/sici?sici=0022-2372%28198702%2968%3A1%3C182%3ANOCLAR%3E2.0.CO%3B2-I. Accessed 4

Aug 2006.

Flynn, R. W., and T. V. Schumacher. 2009. Temporal changes in population dynamics of American martens. Journal of Wildlife Management 73:1269–1281.

<https://bioone.org/journals/Journal-of-Wildlife-Management/volume-73/issue-8/2008-169/Temporal-Changes-in-Population-Dynamics-of-American-Martens/10.2193/2008-169.full>. Accessed 25 Feb 2019.

- Folland, W. R., J. L. Newsted, S. D. Fitzgerald, P. C. Fuchsman, P. W. Bradley, J. Kern, K. Kannan, R. E. Remington, and M. J. Zwiernik. 2016. Growth and reproductive effects from dietary exposure to Aroclor 1268 in mink (*Neovison vison*), a surrogate model for marine mammals. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 35:604–618.
 http://setac.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/etc.3201. Accessed 18 Mar 2019.
- Foster-Turley, P., I. O. S. Group, S. M. Macdonald, and C. F. Mason. 1990. Otters: an action plan for their conservation. International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources, Gland, Switzerland. https://catalog.lib.ncsu.edu/record/NCSU931524>.
- Gamelon, M., S. Focardi, E. Baubet, S. Brandt, B. Franzetti, F. Ronchi, S. Venner, B.-E. Sæther, and J.-M. Gaillard. 2017. Reproductive allocation in pulsed-resource environments: a comparative study in two populations of wild boar. Oecologia 183:1065–1076. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-017-3821-8>. Accessed 27 Feb 2019.
- Graser, W. H., S. D. Gehrt, L. L. Hungerford, and C. Anchor. 2012. Variation in demographic patterns and population structure of raccoons across an urban landscape. The Journal of Wildlife Management 76:976–986. http://www.jstor.org/stable/41519442>. Accessed 4 Mar 2019.
- Grassel, S. M., J. L. Rachlow, and C. J. Williams. 2016. Reproduction by black-tailed prairie dogs and black-footed ferrets: Effects of weather and food availability. Western North American Naturalist; Provo 76:405–416.

<http://search.proquest.com/docview/1869323596/abstract/23B20A68F5AC4C9BPQ/1>. Accessed 18 Mar 2019.

- Griess, J. M. 1987. River otter reintroduction in Great Smoky Mountains National Park. Master of Science, University of Tennessee, Knoxville, Knoxville, TN. http://trace.tennessee.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=3872&context=utk_gradthes. Accessed 5 Aug 2018.
- Hamilton, W. J., and W. R. Eadie. 1964. Reproduction in the otter, *Lutra Canadensis*. Journal of Mammalogy 45:242–252. https://academic.oup.com/jmammal/article-lookup/doi/10.2307/1376987>. Accessed 26 Feb 2017.
- Henson, M. C., and P. J. Chedrese. 2004. Endocrine disruption by cadmium, a common environmental toxicant with paradoxical effects on reproduction. Experimental Biology and Medicine 229:383–392. https://doi.org/10.1177/153537020422900506>. Accessed 20 Jan 2019.
- Hertel, A. G., R. Bischof, O. Langval, A. Mysterud, J. Kindberg, J. E. Swenson, and A.
 Zedrosser. 2018. Berry production drives bottom–up effects on body mass and reproductive success in an omnivore. Oikos 127:197–207.
 http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/oik.04515. Accessed 18 Mar 2019.
- Hill, E. P., and V. Lauhachinda. 1980. Reproduction in river otters from Alabama and Georgia.
 Pages 478–486 *in*. Proceedings of the Worldwide Furbearer Conference. Volume 1.
 International Association of Fish and Wildlife, Frostburg, MD.
- Hood, G. A., and D. G. Larson. 2015. Ecological engineering and aquatic connectivity: a new perspective from beaver-modified wetlands. Freshwater Biology 60:198–208.
 http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/fwb.12487. Accessed 27 Feb 2019.

- Jensen, P. G., C. L. Demers, S. A. Mcnulty, W. J. Jakubas, and M. M. Humphries. 2012. Marten and fisher responses to fluctuations in prey populations and mast crops in the northern hardwood forest. The Journal of Wildlife Management 76:489–502. http://wildlife.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/jwmg.322>. Accessed 18 Mar 2019.
- Johnson, S. A., H. D. Walker, C. M. Hudson, T. R. Hewitt, and J. S. Thompson. 2007. Prospects for restoring river otters in Indiana. Pages 71–83 *in*. Proceedings of the Indiana Academy of Science. Volume 116. http://www.indianaacademyofscience.org/Documents/Proceedings/V116/Proc_v116_1_2007_pp71-83.aspx. Accessed 26 Feb 2017.
- King, C. M., P. C. L. White, D. C. Purdey, and B. Lawrence. 2003. Matching productivity to resource availability in a small predator, the stoat (*Mustela erminea*). Canadian Journal of Zoology; Ottawa 81:662–669.

<http://search.proquest.com/docview/220488745/abstract/8C64E0553DA14E5DPQ/1>. Accessed 27 Feb 2019.

- Koons, D. N., R. F. Rockwell, and J. B. Grand. 2006. Population momentum: Implications for wildlife management. Journal of Wildlife Management 70:19–26.
 .
 Accessed 25 Feb 2019.
- Liers, E. E. 1951. Notes on the river otter (*Lutra canadensis*). Journal of Mammalogy 32:1–9. http://www.jstor.org/stable/1375406>. Accessed 11 Sep 2017.

- Liers, E. E. 1958. Early breeding in the river otter. Journal of Mammalogy 39:438–439. https://academic-oup-com.prox.lib.ncsu.edu/jmammal/article/39/3/438/832698/Early-Breeding-in-the-River-Otter. Accessed 11 Sep 2017.
- Lynch, A. J., B. J. E. Myers, C. Chu, L. A. Eby, J. A. Falke, R. P. Kovach, T. J. Krabbenhoft, T. J. Kwak, J. Lyons, C. P. Paukert, and J. E. Whitney. 2016. Climate Change Effects on North American Inland Fish Populations and Assemblages. Fisheries 41:346–361. https://doi.org/10.1080/03632415.2016.1186016>. Accessed 1 May 2019.
- Marvá, M., and F. San Segundo. 2018. Age-structure density-dependent fertility and individuals dispersal in a population model. Mathematical Biosciences 300:157–167.
 http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0025556417303188>. Accessed 8 Mar 2019.
- Melquist, W. E., and A. E. Dronkert. 1987. River Otter. Pages 626–641 *in* J. Bedford and G. Thompson, editors. Wild furbearer management and conservation in North America Section IV: Species biology, management, and conservation. Ashton-Potter Limited, Concord, Ontario, Canada.
- Murphy, S., J. L. Barber, J. A. Learmonth, F. L. Read, R. Deaville, M. W. Perkins, A.
 Brownlow, N. Davison, R. Penrose, G. J. Pierce, R. J. Law, and P. D. Jepson. 2015.
 Reproductive failure in UK harbour porpoises *Phocoena phocoena*: Legacy of pollutant exposure? PLoS One; San Francisco 10:e0131085.
 http://search.proquest.com/docview/1698024434/abstract/CADE3B43D7A8407BPQ/1

 Accessed 18 Mar 2019.
- Nadal, J., C. Ponz, and A. Margalida. 2018. Population age structure as an indicator for assessing the quality of breeding areas of Common quail (*Coturnix coturnix*). Ecological Indicators

93:1136-1142.

<http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1470160X18304503>. Accessed 8 Mar 2019.

- Naiman, R. J., C. A. Johnston, and J. C. Kelley. 1988. Alteration of North American streams by beaver. BioScience 38:753–762. http://www.jstor.org/stable/1310784>. Accessed 27 Feb 2019.
- North Carolina Wildlife Resources Commission. 2015. North Carolina Wildlife Action Plan. Government. http://www.ncwildlife.org/Plan#6718619-2015-document-downloads. Accessed 4 Aug 2017.
- Petrulis, A. 2013. Chemosignals, hormones and mammalian reproduction. Hormones and Behavior 63:723–741. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0018506X13000731. Accessed 18 Mar 2019.
- Pow, C. S. D. L., J. M. Law, T. J. Kwak, W. G. Cope, J. A. Rice, S. W. Kullman, and D. D. Aday. 2017. Endocrine active contaminants in aquatic systems and intersex in common sport fishes. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 36:959–968. http://setac.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/etc.3607. Accessed 15 Apr 2018.
- Raesly, E. J. 2001. Progress and status of river otter reintroduction projects in the United States. Wildlife Society Bulletin 29:856–862. http://www.jstor.org/stable/3784412>. Accessed 5 Sep 2013.
- Rolley, R. E. 1985. Dynamics of a harvested bobcat population in Oklahoma. The Journal of
 Wildlife Management 49:283–292. http://www.jstor.org/stable/3801517>. Accessed 23
 Feb 2019.

- Ruffino, L., P. Salo, E. Koivisto, P. B. Banks, and E. Korpimäki. 2014. Reproductive responses of birds to experimental food supplementation: a meta-analysis. Frontiers in Zoology 11:80. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12983-014-0080-y>. Accessed 18 Mar 2019.
- Rughetti, M. 2016. Age structure: an indicator to monitor populations of large herbivores. Ecological Indicators 70:249–254. Navigating Urban Complexity: Advancing Understanding of Urban Social – Ecological Systems for Transformation and Resilience. <http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1470160X16303235>. Accessed 25 Feb 2019.
- Ruiz-Olmo, J., A. Batet, F. Mañas, and R. Martínez-Vidal. 2011. Factors affecting otter (*Lutra lutra*) abundance and breeding success in freshwater habitats of the northeastern Iberian Peninsula. European Journal of Wildlife Research 57:827–842.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10344-011-0495-0>. Accessed 8 Mar 2019.
- Ruiz-Olmo, J., and J. Jiménez. 2008. Diet diversity and breeding of top predators are determined by habitat stability and structure: a case study with the Eurasian otter (Lutra lutra L.).
 European Journal of Wildlife Research 55:133. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10344-008-0226-3>. Accessed 29 Apr 2019.
- Ruiz-Olmo, J., J. M. Olmo-Vidal, S. Manas, and A. Batet. 2002. The influence of resource seasonality on the breeding patterns of the Eurasian otter (Lutra lutra) in Mediterranean habitats. Canadian Journal of Zoology; Ottawa 80:2178–2189. http://search.proquest.com/docview/220511403/abstract/9BBF6A33EE984D16PQ/1. Accessed 29 Apr 2019.
- Rulifson, R. A., and C. F. Batsavage. 2014. Population demographics of Hickory Shad *Alosa mediocris* during a period of population growth. Fishery Bulletin 112:221–236.

- Rzymski, Piotr, K. Tomczyk, Pawel Rzymski, B. Poniedziałek, T. Opala, and M. Wilczak. 2015. Impact of heavy metals on the female reproductive system. Annals of Agricultural and Environmental Medicine 22:259–264. http://www.aaem.pl/Impact-of-heavy-metals-on-the-female-reproductive-system,72271,0,2.html>. Accessed 15 Mar 2019.
- Sackett, D. K., D. D. Aday, J. A. Rice, and W. G. Cope. 2009. A statewide assessment of mercury dynamics in North Carolina water bodies and fish. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 138:1328–1341. http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1577/T08-178.1. Accessed 26 Feb 2017.
- Serfass, T., S. S. Evans, and P. Polechla. 2015. *Lontra canadensis*, North American River Otter. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species e.T12302A21936349.:1–15.
- Snodgrass, J. W., and G. K. Meffe. 1998. Influence of beavers on stream fish assemblages:
 effects of pond age and watershed position. Ecology 79:928–942.
 http://esajournals.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1890/0012-9658%281998%29079%5B0928%3AIOBOSF%5D2.0.CO%3B2. Accessed 27 Feb 2019.
- Sonne, C., P. S. Leifsson, R. Dietz, E. W. Born, R. J. Letcher, L. Hyldstrup, F. F. Riget, M. Kirkegaard, and D. C. Muir. 2006. Xenoendocrine pollutants may reduce size of sexual organs in East Greenland polar bears (*Ursus maritimus*). Environmental science & technology 40:5668–5674. http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/es060836n. Accessed 15 Mar 2017.
- Spelman, L. H. 1998. North American river otter (*Lutra canadensis*) translocation in North Carolina 1989-1996. European Association of Zoo and Wildlife Veterinarians. Chester, United Kingdom.
<https://repository.si.edu/bitstream/handle/10088/11671/Spelman1998.pdf?sequence=1& isAllowed=y>. Accessed 15 Mar 2017.

- Stephenson, A. B. 1977. Age determination and morphological variation of Ontario otters. Canadian Journal of Zoology 55:1577–1583. http://www.nrcresearchpress.com/doi/abs/10.1139/z77-206>. Accessed 26 Feb 2017.
- Sulkava, R. T., P. O. Sulkava, and P. E. Sulkava. 2007. Source and sink dynamics of densitydependent otter (*Lutra lutra*) populations in rivers of central Finland. Oecologia 153:579– 588. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-007-0774-3. Accessed 8 Mar 2019.
- Tabor, J. E., and H. M. Wight. 1977. Population status of river otter in western Oregon. The Journal of Wildlife Management 41:692.
 http://www.jstor.org/stable/3799991?origin=crossref>. Accessed 26 Feb 2017.
- White, R. J. 1996. Growth and development of North American stream habitat management for fish. 53:23.
- Wilson, K. A. 1960. Management of the otter in North Carolina. Memo, North Carolina Wildlife Resources Commission.

Table 1. Corpora lutea and fetus counts in river otters (Lontra canadensis) for Period One (1978-80) and Period Two (2009-16) in North Carolina, USA by Furbearer Management Unit (FMU) and age class. Otters less than a year old were considered juveniles, one-year-old otters are considered yearlings, and all otters age two or older were considered adults.

						P	eriod 2	
Age Class	N_1, N_2	FMU	Variable	Mean	SE	Mean	SE	
	116 25	Constal Disin	Corpora Lutea	0.02	0.02	1.11	0.16	
I 1 (0 1)	110, 55	Coastal Plain	Fetuses	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
	0.21	D's days and	Corpora Lutea			1.35 0.16		
Juveniles (0 - 1)	0, 31	Pleamont	Fetuses		MeanSEMeanSE 0.02 0.02 1.11 0.16 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.35 0.16 0.06 0.06 1.75 0.25 0.00 0.14 0.15 0.09 2.60 0.24 0.40 0.40 2.49 0.13 2.05 0.12 0.12 2.00 0.13 1.03 0.18 2.24 0.17 1.07 0.20 2.89 0.20 2.22 0.46			
	0.4	Manutaina	Corpora Lutea			1.75	0.25	
	0,4	Mountains Fetuses				0.00	0.00	
	12 10	Canatal Diain	Corpora Lutea	0.00	0.00	1.42	0.12	
	43, 48	Coastal Plain	Fetuses	etuses 0.20 0.08 0.21		0.12		
	0.20	Diadmont	Corpora Lutea			2.00	0.14	
rearings (1 - 2)	0, 39	Fetuses 0.1					0.09	
	0.5	Mountaina	Corpora Lutea 2.60				0.24	
	0, 3	Fetuses				0.40	0.40	
	115 65	Coastal Diain	Corpora Lutea	2.49	0.13	2.05	0.12	
	115, 05	Coastal Plain	Fetuses 2.00 0.13 1.03			1.03	0.18	
	0.42	Diadmont	Corpora Lutea			2.24	0.17	
Adults (≥ 2)	0,42	rieumoni	Fetuses			1.07	0.20	
	0.0	Mountaina	Corpora Lutea			2.89	0.20	
	0,9	Mountains	Fetuses			2.22	0.46	

Table 2. Model selection results using Akaike's information criterion (AIC) for the effect of age and Furbearer Management Unit(FMU) on corpora lutea and fetus counts for river otters (Lontra canadensis) in North Carolina, USA, during November-February

		Company Inter				D ofmann				
		Corpora lutea		Fetuses						
Model	AIC	ΔΑΙC	Model weight	K	Log like	AIC	ΔΑΙC	Model weight	K	Log like
Age + FMU	743.9481	0	0.999	5	-366.9740	776.8275	0	0.544	5	-383.4138
Age	757.4973	13.5	0.001	2	-375.7487	777.1839	0.3564	0.456	2	-385.592
FMU	785.0416	41.1	0	4	-388.5208	850.6437	73.8162	0	4	-421.3218
Null	797.6096	53.7	0	1	-396.8048	853.8446	77.0171	0	1	-424.9223

2009-16. Model weight = $\frac{exp(-0.5*\Delta AIC)}{\sum exp(-0.5*\Delta AIC)}$, K= number of parameters.

Table 3. Model-averaged coefficients for the effects of age (per year) and Furbearer Management Unit (FMU) on the corpora lutea

		Corpora	lutea		es	
Variable	Estimate Unconditional		Unconditional 95%	Estimate	Unconditional	Unconditional 95%
		variance SE	confidence interval		variance SE	confidence interval
Age	0.180	0.030	(0.121, 0.240)	0.256	0.037	(0.183, 0.329)
FMU (Coastal Plain)	-0.3178	0.116	(-0.545, -0.090)	0.007	0.124	(-0.236, 0.250)
FMU (Mountain)	0.596	0.247	(0.112, 1.079)	0.536	0.263	(0.020, 1.052)

and fetus counts of river otters (Lontra canadensis) in North Carolina during 2009-2016.



Figure 1. Furbearer Management Units and river basins of North Carolina, 1978-2016.



Figure 2. River otter (Lontra canadensis) trapping seasons from 1947 - present in North Carolina.



Figure 3. Age distribution of harvested river otters (*Lontra canadensis*) during Period One (1978-1980) and Period Two (2009-2016) in North Carolina.

CHAPTER TWO

LEPTOSPIROSIS, PARVOVIRUS, AND TOXOPLASMOSIS IN THE NORTH AMERICAN RIVER OTTER (Lontra canadensis) IN NORTH CAROLINA.

ABSTRACT

The North American river otter (Lontra canadensis; hereafter otter) is the largest mustelid in North Carolina and was once extirpated from the central and western portions of the state. Over time and after a successful reintroduction project, otters are abundant and occur throughout North Carolina. However, there is a concern that diseases may have an impact on the otter population, as well as other aquatic mammals, either through exposure to emerging diseases, contact with domestic animals (e.g., domestic cats), or less robust condition of individuals through declines in water quality. Therefore, we tested brain and kidney tissue from harvested otters for leptospirosis, parvovirus, and toxoplasmosis. Leptospirosis and toxoplasmosis are priority zoonoses and are maintained by domestic and wild mammals. Although parvovirus is not zoonotic, it does affect pets causing mild to fatal symptoms. Across the 2014-2015 and 2015-2016 trapping seasons, we tested 220 otters (76 female, 144 male) using real-time polymerase chain reaction (PCR) for leptospirosis, parvovirus, and toxoplasmosis. Of the otters tested, 3 (1%) were positive for *Leptospira interrogans*, 41 (19%) were positive for Parvovirus spp, and 53 (24%) were positive for Toxoplasma gondii. Although parvovirus and toxoplasmosis are relatively common in North Carolina otters, the otter harvest has remained steady and the population appears to be abundant and self-sustaining. Therefore, parvovirus and toxoplasmosis do not currently appear to be negatively impacting the population. However, subsequent research should examine transmission parameters between domestic and wild species, and the sublethal effects of infection.

KEY WORDS

disease, leptospirosis, Lontra canadensis, North Carolina, otter, parvovirus, toxoplasmosis

INTRODUCTION

The North American river otter (*Lontra canadensis*; hereafter otter) is the largest mustelid inhabiting North Carolina. Otters were extirpated from the western Mountain Furbearer Management Unit (FMU) and most of the central Piedmont FMU by the early 1900s (Figure 1), with small surviving pockets in some areas (Wilson 1960). Otters were successfully reintroduced to the Mountain FMU from the Coastal Plain FMU during the 1990s (Spelman 1998). After the population recovered, an otter trapping season was opened in the Mountain FMU in November 2005, and bag limits were removed in November 2009. Today, otter populations in all three FMUs are believed to be abundant and self-sustaining. The International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) Red List categorizes five of thirteen otter species as endangered, with only *L. canadensis* listed as "least concern" and "stable" (IUCN 2017). Studies of *L. canadensis* are important because they potentially provide information for vulnerable otter species (Kimber and Kollias 2000).

The IUCN and Natural Resources/Species Survival Commission (IUCN/SSC) Otter Specialist Group does not outline disease as a direct threat to global otter populations (Foster-Turley et al. 1990), however, it is vital to monitor diseases because they may regulate local populations (Kimber and Kollias 2000). Although some diseases can have regulatory or even catastrophic effects on populations (Anderson and May 1978, May and Anderson 1978), they rarely cause extirpations or extinctions. Also, it is possible for a disease to weaken local populations making them vulnerable to stochastic events (Lafferty and Gerber 2002).

Leptospirosis is a bacterial zoonotic disease caused by an aerobic spirochete (*Leptospira interrogans*) and maintained globally by mammals, reptiles, and amphibians (Kimber and Kollias 2000, Plank and Dean 2000, Bengis et al. 2004, Fouts et al. 2016). Infected animals shed leptospires in urine (Plank and Dean 2000) allowing humans and wildlife species to encounter leptospires through contaminated soil, water, animal tissue, or animal bites (Lecour et al. 1989, Everard et al. 1995, Faisal et al. 2012). Because otters are semi-aquatic, infected water sources associated with urban-suburban areas may be detrimental (Gautam et al. 2010). Additionally, leptospirosis has been recorded in many mustelid species (Moinet et al. 2010), black bears associated with urban areas (Sasmal et al. 2019), and is fatal to sea otters (*Enhydra lutris*) (White et al. 2018).

Parvovirus spp. is a highly contagious genus of viruses identified in the 20th century that spreads in felines, raccoons, arctic foxes, mink, and canines through direct contact with an infected animal or by indirect contact with a contaminated object or feces (Parrish 1990, Goddard and Leisewitz 2010). Although parvovirus is not zoonotic, it can cause mild to fatal symptoms in pets and may affect reproduction (Parrish 1990, Kostro et al. 2014). Interestingly, canine parvovirus (CPV) has had devastating effects on gray wolf populations (Mech and Goyal 1995, Mech et al. 2008) and is lethal to Asian small-clawed otters (*Aonyx cinerea*, Gjeltema et al. 2015). All parvoviruses are capable of infecting other species (Allison et al. 2014, Nituch et al. 2015).

Toxoplasma gondii is a single-celled parasite that causes the zoonotic disease toxoplasmosis (Dubey 2008). Toxoplasmosis is globally distributed, but most hosts are asymptomatic. Cats serve as the definitive host, but many species (e.g., mice, pigs, and geese) are intermediate hosts (Dubey 1996, Cenci-Goga et al. 2011, Sandfoss et al. 2011). In humans, most cases are minor and typically mimic the flu, but toxoplasmosis can be dangerous and even deadly in immunocompromised individuals (Dubey 1996). *Toxoplasma gondii* moves from its feline host to other species most commonly through contact with meat or water contaminated by cat feces (Vanwormer et al. 2013). Sea otter exposure to *T. gondii* may be at least partially influenced by freshwater runoff (Miller et al. 2002, Conrad et al. 2005), and Shapiro et al. (2012) determined that *T. gondii* was the cause of death in 14% of sea otters tested in central California. Additionally, human population density has been connected to *T. gondii* rates in sea otters (Gaydos et al. 2007) and southern river otters (*Lontra provocax*, Barros et al. 2018).

Detection of *L. interrogans*, *Parvovirus* spp., and *T. gondii* in otters may present a possible transmission risk between wildlife, domestic species, and humans, and may be indicative of exposure to aquatic mammals (e.g., muskrats, beaver, mink) and highlight the impacts by humans and domestic species on wild populations. Therefore, our objective was to survey the otter population to determine the prevalence of *L. interrogans*, *Parvovirus* spp., and *T. gondii* across the three FMUs (i.e., Mountains, Piedmont, and Coastal Plain) and 14 river basins of North Carolina. Additionally, we determined if sex or age were important covariates for determining the probability of infection.

STUDY AREA

We conducted our study across the entire state of North Carolina. The North Carolina Wildlife Resources Commission (NCWRC) divided the state into three Furbearer Management Units (i.e., Mountain, Piedmont, and Coastal Plain). The FMUs followed physiographic regions and county boundaries (Figure 1). However, because otters are semi-aquatic their territories are linear and tend to correspond with river basin geographic features (Melquist and Hornocker

1983, Melquist and Dronkert 1987, Reid et al. 1994, Sauer et al. 1999, Blundell et al. 2001) we also focused our study on the 14 river basins that occur throughout North Carolina (Figure 1).

METHODS

Data Collection:

During the 2014-2015 and 2015-2016 regulated trapping seasons, we collected otter carcasses from licensed trappers across North Carolina. Although there were variations in trapping season dates across North Carolina, most of the otters we collected were trapped during January and February. We recorded the date and location trapped including specific coordinates, addresses, and/or a general description of the trap site location. General descriptions included the county, locality, roads, and any prominent landmarks.

We froze all carcasses prior to necropsy. We extracted a lower canine tooth, which was sent to Matson's Laboratory (Manhattan, Montana) for cementum annuli aging (Stephenson 1977). We removed five grams of brain and two grams of kidney tissue which we froze until analysis.

We used IDEXX Laboratories (Columbia, Missouri) for Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) testing of *L. interrogans, Parvovirus* spp., and *T. gondii*. We extracted total nucleic acids from brains and kidneys with standard protocols using a commercially available platform (One-For-All Vet Kit, Qiagen, Valencia, CA, USA). The canine parvovirus two and *T. gondii* PCR assays were based on the IDEXX BioResearch proprietary service platform (IDEXX Laboratories, Inc., Westbrook, ME, USA) and used a FAM/TAMRA-labeled hydrolysis probe.

Assays passed analytical validation by being tested in triplicate against dilutions of a known positive control and a known positive clinical case sample with the following criteria

being met and reproduced on different run days: amplification efficiency of 95-105%, linearity over five points, calculated coefficient of variation (CV) of crossing points (Cp) equal to or smaller than three percent, r^2 value equal to or larger than 0.993, signal to noise ratio of fluorescent signal ≥ 10 and analytical sensitivity of ten molecules or less per PCR reaction. Assays passed clinical validation by being tested against well-characterized clinical samples. Sequence analyses were performed on select positive samples during assay validation to confirm amplification of the intended target.

We used a hydrolysis probe-based real-time PCR targeting a housekeeping gene (18S rRNA) to determine the amount of genomic DNA present in the test sample, confirm DNA integrity, and ensure the absence of PCR inhibitors. We performed diagnostic real-time PCR with a standard primer and probe concentrations using a commercially available mastermix (LC480 ProbesMaster, Roche Applied Science, Indianapolis, IN, USA) on a commercially available real-time PCR platform (Roche LightCycler 480). Because brain and kidney tissues are suited for individual diseases and often used in the literature for disease evaluation, we considered specimens positive for a disease if either tissue sample was positive.

Data Management and Modeling:

We used the SAS GENMOD procedure to predict the maximum likelihood of an otter being positive for the disease using logistic regression in a generalized linear model (SAS Institute, Inc, Cary, NC, USA). We treated age (0-13 years old based on cementum annuli) as a numeric variable with sex, river basin, and FMU as classification variables. All ages were assigned based on a date of birth of 1 April annually. Age classifications were assigned by year up to year four, after which all otters age four or greater were combined into a single age class. We limited our candidate model set to four a priori covariates to avoid including spurious effects. We used Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC) to assess model weights and rank candidate models (Burnham and Anderson 2002). We developed relative support for the models by using Akaike weights and then calculated the unconditional variance estimates with their associated 95% confidence intervals (Burnham and Anderson 2002, Anderson 2008). We ignored non-informative parameters within two Δ AIC units of the top model (Arnold 2010).

We used indicator kriging to predict the probability of testing positive for *Parvovirus* spp. and *T. gondii* throughout North Carolina. We created the kriging models in ArcGIS 10.3 with the Geostatistical Analyst Wizard (Esri, Redlands, CA, USA). We set our threshold value to zero and optimized the semivariogram. We used the standard neighbor type with eight sectors. For parvovirus, we used a maximum of ten neighbors and a minimum of three neighbors, while for *T. gondii* we used a maximum of 5 neighbors and a minimum of two.

RESULTS

We tested 132 (49 female, 83 male) otters from the 2014-2015 season and 88 (27 female, 61 male) from the 2015-2016 season, collected from over 50 trappers and fur dealers. Of those, three (1%) were positive for *L. interrogans*, 41 (19%) were positive for *Parvovirus* spp, and 53 (24%) were positive for *T. gondii* (Table 1). Due to low overall prevalence (1%) we did not model *L. interrogans* further. *Parvovirus* spp. prevalence was highest in yearling otters (age class = 1, 22%, Table 2), highest in the Coastal Plain (24%) and not detected in the Mountains (0%; Table 2). The Lower Pee Dee (35%, Table 3) had the highest prevalence of *Parvovirus* ssp. while the lowest was in the French Broad-Holston, Middle Tennessee-Hiwassee, and Roanoke river basins (0%, Table 3). *Toxoplasma gondii* prevalence ranged from 17% to 43% among FMUs and was highest in females (34%) and individuals four years old or older (33%, Table 2).

The Upper Pee Dee (40%) had the highest prevalence of *T. gondii* among river basins while no positive samples were recorded in the Middle-Tennessee/Hiwassee basin (Table 3).

We documented the significant influence of age and river basin on the occurrence of *Parvovirus* spp. (Tables 4, 5), and age, sex, and FMU for *T. gondii* among the otter population in North Carolina. Of the 15 models we ran for *Parvovirus* spp., four were within two Δ AIC and only explained ~50% of the variation; all models included age, river basin, and/or sex (Table 4). Therefore, we model averaged which indicated the Albemarle, Cape Fear, Neuse, Pamlico, and Upper Pee Dee river basins were significant predictors, whereas age and sex were not significant predictors (Table 5). The best model for *T. gondii* positive otters included FMU, sex, and age and held 79.4% of the model weight.

For the indicator kriging analyses, *Parvovirus* spp. and *T. gondii* overlapping points were averaged together, resulting in sample sizes of 97 for each disease analyzed. The standardized mean and the standardized root mean square (RMSS) for *Parvovirus* spp. (0.0018, 1.0373, respectively) and *T. gondii* (-0.0176, 0.0.9880, respectively) demonstrated the indicator kriging had a high degree of model performance. *Parvovirus* spp. appeared to be ubiquitous and at low levels across North Carolina with the lowest prevalence in the Mountain FMU, but with a primary probability of occurrence of 19% across North Carolina (Table 3, Figure 2). *Toxoplasma gondii* was present at relatively high levels throughout North Carolina with high prevalence areas in the Southeast Coastal Plain and eastern part of the Mountain FMU and with a primary probability of occurrence of 24% for all of North Carolina (Table 3, Figure 3).

DISCUSSION

Our study was one of the first to examine diseases in otters in North Carolina. We determined that leptospirosis occurred at low levels throughout North Carolina. Because *L. interrogans* can spread through contaminated soil or water and stays in the soil of an infected area for months or longer (Thibeaux et al. 2017), the potential of zoonotic exposure and impact on aquatic ecosystems is a primary concern. Aquatic and semi-aquatic species such as seals (*Pusa capsica*), mink (*Neovison vison*), and nutria (*Myocastor coypu*) have tested positive on multiple continents (Aviat et al. 2009, Barros et al. 2014, Vein et al. 2014, Namroodi et al. 2018), and leptospirosis is lethal to sea otters (White et al. 2018). Although our low prevalence is encouraging, it may be explained by the difficulty of isolating *L. interrogans*. However, Shearer et al (2014) detected higher prevalence rates using similar methods. We suggest continued monitoring of prevalence rates in aquatic mammal species in North Carolina along with the further study of the transmission routes and effects on various wild aquatic species.

We documented *Parvovirus* spp. in 19% of the samples tested. Although no otter mortality attributed to *Parvovirus* spp. has been documented in North Carolina there have been fatalities for otters (Famini et al. 2013) and Asian small-clawed otters (*Aonyx cinereal*, Gjeltema et al. 2015) recorded. While there are no overarching relationships between anthropomorphic development and disease prevalence (Brearley et al. 2013), the dispersion of some diseases that are spread by direct contact may be aided by the disturbance associated with higher human density, development, agriculture, domestic animals, and pest populations (Gaydos et al. 2007). Specifically, canine parvovirus two (CPV2) is more common in rural areas, often due to the lower likelihood of domestic dogs being vaccinated (Sepúlveda et al. 2014, Zourkas et al. 2015, Curi et al. 2016). The Santee and Lower Pee Dee river basins are largely agricultural, which may explain the higher prevalence detected in our study and how the model showed other basins significantly lower in prevalence. Interestingly, adult dogs are less affected by parvovirus due to environmental exposure, while weaned puppies less than six months old are usually the most atrisk group (Goddard and Leisewitz 2010). In our study, yearling otters had the highest prevalence, possibly due to greater rates of dispersal, encountering multiple latrine sites, and coming into contact with more otters and other species (Boyle 2006). Because of the 41 specimens that tested positive only ten were positive for in both samples, we suggest continuing to test both kidney and brain tissue for parvovirus.

We documented *T. gondii* in 24% of the samples tested and determined that FMU, sex, and age were significant predictors of T. gondii in North Carolina otters. The Mountain FMU had the highest prevalence of T. gondii at 43%, possibly due to the small sample size and limited distribution across the FMU. Interestingly, seroprevalence was 45% in Coastal Plain FMU otters during the relocation project in 1996 (Tocidlowski et al. 1997). Those otters formed the base of the Mountain FMU population which may have contributed to the high prevalence we observed. In our study, the prevalence in the heavily populated Piedmont FMU and Upper Pee Dee river basin was significantly higher which was not unexpected due to the established link between anthropomorphic development and toxoplasmosis (Miller et al. 2002, 2008, Conrad et al. 2005, Vanwormer et al. 2013, Barros et al. 2018). Additionally, females and older otters were more likely to test positive which is supported by research indicating that immunocompromised individuals (e.g., pregnant females, older) were at greater risk of contracting T. gondii (Dubey 1996, Barros et al. 2018). We observed higher probabilities of female and older otters contracting toxoplasmosis across all three FMUs of North Carolina. While there have been no recorded toxoplasmosis related otter mortalities in North Carolina, sea otter mortalities have

been linked to *T. gondii* in California (Cole et al. 2000, Shapiro et al. 2012, White et al. 2018). While direct mortalities are important there may be sublethal effects of toxoplasmosis, such as litter failure, that are difficult to document (Cenci-Goga et al. 2013, Formenti et al. 2015). We encourage future research to focus on the sub-lethal effects of *T. gondii* on wild otter populations.

Aquatic ecosystems offer a plethora of opportunities for disease to spread and thrive (Johnson and Paull 2011). While river otters seem to be robust to diseases such as leptospirosis, parvovirus, and toxoplasmosis, other species may not be. Other furbearers in particular such as mink, muskrats, and beaver remain at risk (Smith and Frenkel 1995, Forzán and Frasca 2004, Jordan et al. 2005) because drainage focuses exposure towards them (Miller et al. 2002, Shapiro et al. 2012, Ahlers et al. 2015). As an apex predator otters are exposed to diseases not only through the environment, but also through their diet (Krusor et al. 2015, Barros et al. 2018). This makes them an ideal sentinel species and suggests that when otter populations test positive for these diseases other aquatic species in the same areas will also, particularly in areas influenced by the human population.

As human encroachment expands across the landscape, development brings activities, domestic animals, and invasive species that enhance the exposure of wild populations to pathogens (Hess 1994, McCallum and Dobson 2002, Gaydos et al. 2007, Brearley et al. 2013). Our research established baselines that can be used for comparisons to future surveys to monitor the spread of leptospirosis, parvovirus, and toxoplasmosis. While traditional research concludes that zoonoses pass from wild populations to domestic animals and humans (Bengis et al. 2004, Shearer et al. 2014), other studies have determined that wild populations away from human development had lower or no prevalence of the same diseases (Gaydos et al. 2007, Plowright et

al. 2008, Brearley et al. 2013, Becker et al. 2015). As the human-wildlife interface continues to expand, diseases being passed from humans and domestic animals to wild populations and vice-versa are of increasing concern for all three groups.

Disease transmission is often complex and difficult to determine, requiring new methods and approaches (McCallum and Dobson 1995, Plowright et al. 2008, Langwig et al. 2015). While aquatic ecosystems provide a hub for pathogens to be encountered and spread (Gortázar et al. 2007, Johnson and Paull 2011), otters may provide crucial data for the management and conservation of other species. As development and habitat loss increase and force more humanwildlife interactions, subsequent research should examine transmission parameters between domestic and wild species and the sublethal effects of infection. Additionally, future surveys should further elucidate the role of agricultural development and human densities on disease prevalence in river otters across different regions and climes.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the NCWRC, the Federal Aid to Wildlife Restoration program, and the Fisheries, Wildlife, and Conservation Biology program at NCSU for funding this research, as well as the North Carolina State University College of Natural Resources for their unwavering support. We thank S. Ryan for countless hours of sampling tissue and helping in the lab. Thanks to K. L. Schuler for her helpful comments. We thank the North Carolina Trappers' Association and its members for providing the otter carcasses to sample corresponding data along with their support of the project as a whole.

LITERATURE CITED

- Ahlers AA, Mitchell MA, Dubey JP, Schooley RL, Heske EJ. 2015. Risk factors for *Toxoplasma* gondii exposure in semiaquatic mammals in a freshwater ecosystem. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 51:488–492. http://www.bioone.org/doi/10.7589/2014-03-071. Accessed October 2016.
- Allison AB, Kohler DJ, Ortega A, Hoover EA, Grove DM, Holmes EC, Parrish CR. 2014. Hostspecific parvovirus evolution in nature is recapitulated by in vitro adaptation to different carnivore species. *PLOS Pathog* 10:e1004475.

https://journals.plos.org/plospathogens/article?id=10.1371/journal.ppat.1004475. Accessed January 2019.

- Anderson DR. 2008. *Model based inference in the life sciences: a primer on evidence*. Springer, New York; London, 184 pp.
- Anderson RM, May RM. 1978. Regulation and stability of host-parasite population interactions:
 I. Regulatory Processes. J Anim Ecol 47:219–247. http://www.jstor.org/stable/3933.
 Accessed August 2017.
- Arnold TW. 2010. Uninformative parameters and model selection using Akaike's information criterion. *J Wildl Manag* 74:1175–1179. https://bioone.org/journals/Journal-of-Wildlife-Management/volume-74/issue-6/2009-367/Uninformative-Parameters-and-Model-Selection-Using-Akaikes-Information-Criterion/10.2193/2009-367.full. Accessed January 2019.
- Aviat F, Blanchard B, Michel V, Blanchet B, Branger C, Hars J, Mansotte F, Brasme L, De
 Champs C, Bolut P, Mondot P, Faliu J, Rochereau S, Kodjo A, Andre-Fontaine G. 2009.
 Leptospira exposure in the human environment in France: A survey in feral rodents and

in fresh water. *Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis* 32:463–476. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0147957108000258. Accessed February 2019.

Barros M, Cabezón O, Dubey JP, Almería S, Ribas MP, Escobar LE, Ramos B, Medina-Vogel
G. 2018. *Toxoplasma gondii* infection in wild mustelids and cats across an urban-rural
gradient. *PLOS ONE* 13:e0199085.
https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0199085. Accessed

January 2019.

- Barros M, Sáenz L, Lapierre L, Nuñez C, Medina-Vogel G. 2014. High prevalence of pathogenic Leptospira in alien American mink (Neovison vison) in Patagonia. Rev Chil Hist Nat 87:19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40693-014-0019-x. Accessed February 2019.
- Becker DJ, Streicker DG, Altizer S. 2015. Linking anthropogenic resources to wildlife–pathogen dynamics: a review and meta-analysis. *Ecol Lett* 18:483–495.
 http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/ele.12428. Accessed February 2019.
- Bengis RG, Leighton FA, Fischer JR, Artois M, Mörner T, Tate CM. 2004. The role of wildlife in emerging and re-emerging zoonoses. :16.

Blundell GM, Maier JAK, Debevec EM. 2001. Linear home ranges: Effects of smoothing, sample size, and autocorrelation on kernel estimates. *Ecol Monogr* 71:469–489. http://esajournals.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1890/0012-9615%282001%29071%5B0469%3ALHREOS%5D2.0.CO%3B2. Accessed January 2019.

Boyle S. 2006. North American River Otter (*Lontra canadensis*): A Technical Conservation Assessment. USDA Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Region, Species Conservation Project, Montrose, Colorado.

https://www.fs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/stelprdb5210168.pdf. Accessed March 2017.

- Brearley G, Rhodes J, Bradley A, Baxter G, Seabrook L, Lunney D, Liu Y, McAlpine C. 2013.
 Wildlife disease prevalence in human-modified landscapes. *Biol Rev* 88:427–442.
 http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/brv.12009. Accessed December 2018.
- Burnham KP, Anderson DR. 2002. Model Selection and Multimodel Inference: A Practical Information-theoretic Approach. Springer, New York.

https://proxying.lib.ncsu.edu/index.php?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direc t=true&db=nlebk&AN=98897&site=ehost-live. Accessed January 2019.

- Cenci-Goga BT, Ciampelli A, Sechi P, Veronesi F, Moretta I, Cambiotti V, Thompson PN. 2013.
 Seroprevalence and risk factors for *Toxoplasma gondii* in sheep in Grosseto district,
 Tuscany, Italy. *BMC Vet Res* 9:25. https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-6148-9-25. Accessed
 February 2019.
- Cenci-Goga BT, Rossitto PV, Sechi P, McCrindle CME, Cullor JS. 2011. *Toxoplasma* in animals, food, and humans: An Old Parasite of New Concern. *Foodborne Pathog Dis* 8:751–762. http://www.liebertpub.com/doi/full/10.1089/fpd.2010.0795. Accessed February 2019.
- Cole RA, Lindsay DS, Howe DK, Roderick CL, Dubey JP, Thomas NJ, Baeten LA. 2000.
 Biological and molecular characterizations of *Toxoplasma gondii* strains obtained from southern sea otters (*Enhydra lutris* nereis). *J Parasitol* 86:526–530.
 http://www.jstor.org/stable/3284867. Accessed August 2017.

- Conrad PA, Miller MA, Kreuder C, James ER, Mazet J, Dabritz H, Jessup DA, Gulland F, Grigg ME. 2005. Transmission of *Toxoplasma*: Clues from the study of sea otters as sentinels of *Toxoplasma gondii* flow into the marine environment. *Int J Parasitol* 35:1155–1168. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0020751905002444. Accessed February 2017.
- Curi NH de A, Massara RL, Paschoal AM de O, Soriano-Araujo A, Lobato ZIP, Demetrio GR,
 Chiarello AG, Passamani M. 2016. Prevalence and risk factors for viral exposure in rural
 dogs around protected areas of the Atlantic forest. *BMC Vet Res Lond* 12.
 http://search.proquest.com/docview/1773891749/citation/E0DD0FEDFB2A48A7PQ/1.
 Accessed February 2019.
- Dubey JP. 1996. *Toxoplasma Gondii*. In: *Medical Microbiology*, S. Baron, editor. University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston, TX. p. 1273.
- Dubey JP. 2008. The History of *Toxoplasma gondii* The First 100 Years. *J Eukaryot Microbiol* 55:467–475. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1550-7408.2008.00345.x. Accessed October 2016.
- Everard COR, Edwards CN, Everard JD, Carrington DG. 1995. A twelve-year study of leptospirosis on Barbados. *Eur J Epidemiol* 11:311–320. http://www.jstor.org/stable/3581916. Accessed January 2019.
- Faisal SM, McDonough SP, Chang Y-F. 2012. Leptospira: Invasion, Pathogenesis and Persistence. In: The Pathogenic Spirochetes: strategies for evasion of host immunity and persistence, M. E. Embers, editor. Springer US, Boston, MA. pp. 143–172. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-5404-5_8. Accessed January 2019.

- Famini D, Gabriel MW, Anderson ML. 2013. Case report of natural exposure, and one mortality, of North American river otters (*Lontra canadensis*) to parvovirus in a rehabilitation center. In: *Proceedings of the Wildlife Society Western Section 2013 Annual Meeting*.
 Sacramento, CA. pp. 16–17.
- Formenti N, Trogu T, Pedrotti L, Gaffuri A, Lanfranchi P, Ferrari N. 2015. *Toxoplasma gondii* infection in alpine red deer (*Cervus elaphus*): Its spread and effects on fertility. *PLoS One San Franc* 10:e0138472.
 http://search.proquest.com/docview/1719319246/abstract/1D457CC944CC470FPQ/1.
 Accessed February 2019.
- Forzán MJ, Frasca S. 2004. Systemic toxoplasmosis in a five-month-old beaver, (*Castor canadensis. zamd* 35:113–115. https://bioone.org/journals/Journal-of-Zoo-and-Wildlife-Medicine/volume-35/issue-1/03-031/SYSTEMIC-TOXOPLASMOSIS-IN-A-FIVE-MONTH-OLD-BEAVER-span-classgenus/10.1638/03-031.full. Accessed May 2019.
- Foster-Turley P, Group IOS, Macdonald SM, Mason CF. 1990. Otters: an action plan for their conservation. International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources, Gland, Switzerland, 126 pp. https://catalog.lib.ncsu.edu/record/NCSU931524. Accessed.
- Fouts DE, Matthias MA, Adhikarla H, Adler B, Amorim-Santos L, Berg DE, Bulach D,
 Buschiazzo A, Chang Y-F, Galloway RL, Haake DA, Haft DH, Hartskeerl R, Ko AI,
 Levett PN, Matsunaga J, Mechaly AE, Monk JM, Nascimento ALT, Nelson KE, Palsson
 B, Peacock SJ, Picardeau M, Ricaldi JN, Thaipandungpanit J, Wunder EA, Yang XF,
 Zhang J-J, Vinetz JM. 2016. What makes a bacterial species pathogenic?: Comparative
 genomic analysis of the genus *Leptospira*. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* 10:e0004403.
 https://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0004403. Accessed January 2019.

- Gautam R, Guptill LF, Wu CC, Potter A, Moore GE. 2010. Spatial and spatio-temporal clustering of overall and serovar-specific *Leptospira* microscopic agglutination test (MAT) seropositivity among dogs in the United States from 2000 through 2007. *Prev Vet Med* 96:122–131. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167587710001649. Accessed January 2019.
- Gaydos JK, Conrad PA, Gilardi KVK, Blundell GM, Ben-David M. 2007. Does human proximity affect antibody prevalence in marine-foraging river otters (*Lontra canadensis*)?
 J Wildl Dis 43:116–123. http://www.jwildlifedis.org/doi/10.7589/0090-3558-43.1.116.
 Accessed February 2017.
- Gjeltema J, Murphy H, Rivera S. 2015. Clinical Canine Parvovirus Type 2C infection in a group of Asian small-clawed otters (*Aonyx cinerea*). J Zoo Wildl Med 46:120–123. http://www.bioone.org/doi/10.1638/2014-0090R1.1. Accessed February 2017.
- Goddard A, Leisewitz AL. 2010. Canine Parvovirus. Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract 40:1041–1053. https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S019556161000094X.
 Accessed February 2019.
- Gortázar C, Ferroglio E, Höfle U, Frölich K, Vicente J. 2007. Diseases shared between wildlife and livestock: a European perspective. *Eur J Wildl Res* 53:241–256. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10344-007-0098-y. Accessed December 2018.
- Hess GR. 1994. Conservation corridors and contagious disease: A Cautionary Note. *Conserv Biol* 8:256–262. http://www.jstor.org/stable/2386739. Accessed August 2017.
- *IUCN Red List of Threatened Species Version 2017-3*. 2017. http://www.iucnredlist.org/search. Accessed June 2018.

Johnson PTJ, Paull SH. 2011. The ecology and emergence of diseases in fresh waters. *Freshw Biol* 56:638–657. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2010.02546.x. Accessed December 2018.

Jordan CN, Kaur T, Koenen K, DeStefano S, Zajac AM, Lindsay DS. 2005. Prevalence of Agglutinating Antibodies to *Toxoplasma gondii* and *Sarcocystis neurona* in Beavers (*Castor canadensis*) From Massachusetts. *para* 91:1228–1229. https://bioone.org/journals/Journal-of-Parasitology/volume-91/issue-5/GE-543R.1/Prevalence-of-Agglutinating-Antibodies-to-span-classgenus-speciesToxoplasmagondii-span/10.1645/GE-543R.1.full. Accessed May 2019.

- Kimber KR, Kollias GV. 2000. Infectious and Parasitic Diseases and Contaminant-Related Problems of North American River Otters (*Lontra canadensis*): A Review. *J Zoo Wildl Med* 31:452–472. http://www.jstor.org.prox.lib.ncsu.edu/stable/20096033. Accessed.
- Kostro K, Reichert P, Reichert M. 2014. Devastating effect of persistent asymptomatic infection of minks with Aleutian mink disease virus on reproductive performance. *J Comp Pathol* 150:99. https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0021997513002673. Accessed January 2019.
- Krusor C, Smith WA, Tinker MT, Silver M, Conrad PA, Shapiro K. 2015. Concentration and retention of *Toxoplasma gondii* oocysts by marine snails demonstrate a novel mechanism for transmission of terrestrial zoonotic pathogens in coastal ecosystems. *Environ Microbiol* 17:4527–4537.

http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com.prox.lib.ncsu.edu/doi/10.1111/1462-2920.12927/abstract. Accessed.

- Lafferty KD, Gerber LR. 2002. Good medicine for conservation biology: The intersection of epidemiology and conservation theory. *Conserv Biol* 16:593–604. http://www.jstor.org/stable/3061206. Accessed August 2017.
- Langwig KE, Voyles J, Wilber MQ, Frick WF, Murray KA, Bolker BM, Collins JP, Cheng TL, Fisher MC, Hoyt JR, Lindner DL, McCallum HI, Puschendorf R, Rosenblum EB, Toothman M, Willis CKR, Briggs CJ, Kilpatrick AM. 2015. Context-dependent conservation responses to emerging wildlife diseases. *Front Ecol Environ* 13:195–202. http://proxying.lib.ncsu.edu/index.php?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct =true&db=eih&AN=102423686&site=ehost-live&scope=site. Accessed August 2017.
- Lecour H, Miranda M, Magro C, Rocha A, Goncalves V. 1989. Human Leptospirosis a Review of 50 Cases. *Infection* 17:8–12.
- May RM, Anderson RM. 1978. Regulation and stability of host-parasite population interactions:
 II. Destabilizing processes. *J Anim Ecol* 47:249–267. http://www.jstor.org/stable/3934.
 Accessed August 2017.
- McCallum H, Dobson A. 1995. Detecting disease and parasite threats to endangered species and ecosystems. *Trends Ecol Evol* 10:190–194.
 http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0169534700890503. Accessed December 2018.
- McCallum H, Dobson A. 2002. Disease, habitat fragmentation and conservation. *Proc R Soc B Biol Sci* 269:2041–2049.
 http://rspb.royalsocietypublishing.org/cgi/doi/10.1098/rspb.2002.2079. Accessed

December 2018.

- Mech LD, Goyal SM. 1995. Effects of canine parvovirus on gray wolves in Minnesota. *J Wildl Manag* 59:565–570. http://www.jstor.org/stable/3802464. Accessed January 2019.
- Mech LD, Goyal SM, Paul WJ, Newton WE. 2008. Demographic effects of canine parvovirus on a free-ranging wolf population over 30 years. *J Wildl Dis* 44:824–837. https://bioone.org/journals/Journal-of-Wildlife-Diseases/volume-44/issue-4/0090-3558-44.4.824/DEMOGRAPHIC-EFFECTS-OF-CANINE-PARVOVIRUS-ON-A-FREE-RANGING-WOLF/10.7589/0090-3558-44.4.824.full. Accessed January 2019.
- Melquist WE, Dronkert AE. 1987. River Otter. In: Wild furbearer management and conservation in North America Section IV: Species biology, management, and conservation, J. Bedford and G. Thompson, editors. Ashton-Potter Limited, Concord, Ontario, Canada. pp. 626– 641.
- Melquist WE, Hornocker MG. 1983. Ecology of River Otters in West Central Idaho. *Wildl Monogr* 83:3–60.
- Miller MA, Gardner IA, Kreuder C, Paradies DM, Worcester KR, Jessup DA, Dodd E, Harris MD, Ames JA, Packham AE, Conrad PA. 2002. Coastal freshwater runoff is a risk factor for *Toxoplasma gondii* infection of southern sea otters (*Enhydra lutris* nereis). *Int J Parasitol* 32:997–1006.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0020751902000693. Accessed.

Miller MA, Miller WA, Conrad PA, James ER, Melli AC, Leutenegger CM, Dabritz HA,
Packham AE, Paradies D, Harris M, Ames J, Jessup DA, Worcester K, Grigg ME. 2008.
Type X *Toxoplasma gondii* in a wild mussel and terrestrial carnivores from coastal
California: New linkages between terrestrial mammals, runoff and toxoplasmosis of sea otters. *Int J Parasitol* 38:1319–1328.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0020751908000751. Accessed February 2019.

- Moinet M, Fournier-Chambrillon C, André-Fontaine G, Aulagnier S, Mesplède A, Blanchard B, Descarsin V, Dumas P, Dumas Y, Coïc C, Couzi L, Fournier P. 2010. Leptospirosis in free-ranging endangered European mink (*Mustela lutreola*) and other small carnivores (Mustelidae, Viverridae) from southwestern France. *J Wildl Dis* 46:1141–1151. http://www.jwildlifedis.org/doi/10.7589/0090-3558-46.4.1141. Accessed December 2018.
- Namroodi S, Shirazi AS, Khaleghi SR, Mills JN, Kheirabady V. 2018. Frequency of exposure of endangered Caspian seals to Canine distemper virus, *Leptospira interrogans*, and *Toxoplasma gondii*. *PLoS One San Franc* 13:e0196070.
 http://search.proquest.com/docview/2031413036/abstract/1AB3BB19271D4146PQ/1.
 Accessed February 2019.
- Nituch LA, Bowman J, Wilson PJ, Schulte-Hostedde AI. 2015. Aleutian Mink Disease virus in striped skunks (*Mephitis mephitis*): Evidence for cross-species spillover. J Wildl Dis 51:389–401. https://bioone.org/journals/Journal-of-Wildlife-Diseases/volume-51/issue-2/2014-05-141/ALEUTIAN-MINK-DISEASE-VIRUS-IN-STRIPED-SKUNKS-iMEPHITIS-MEPHITIS-i/10.7589/2014-05-141.full. Accessed January 2019.
- Parrish CR. 1990. Emergence, Natural History, and Variation of Canine, Mink, and Feline Parvoviruses, 1st edition. In: *Advances in Virus Research*. Academic Press, Ithaca, NY. pp. 403–450. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/bookseries/00653527/38. Accessed March 2017.

- Plank R, Dean D. 2000. Overview of the epidemiology, microbiology, and pathogenesis of *Leptospira* spp. in humans. *Microbes Infect* 2:1265–1276. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1286457900012806. Accessed January 2019.
- Plowright RK, Sokolow SH, Gorman ME, Daszak P, Foley JE. 2008. Causal inference in disease ecology: Investigating ecological drivers of disease emergence. *Front Ecol Environ* 6:420–429. http://www.jstor.org/stable/20440964. Accessed January 2019.
- Reid DG, Code TE, Reid ACH, Herrero SM. 1994. Spacing, movements, and habitat selection of the river otter in boreal Alberta. *Can J Zool* 72:1314–1324.
 http://www.nrcresearchpress.com/doi/abs/10.1139/z94-175. Accessed January 2019.
- Sandfoss M, DePerno C, Patton S, Flowers J, Kennedy-Stoskopf S. 2011. Prevalence of antibody to *Toxoplasma gondii* and *Trichinella* spp. in feral pigs (*Sus scrofa*) of eastern North Carolina. *Journal of wildlife diseases* 47:338–343.
- Sasmal I, Gould NP, Schuler KL, Chang Y-F, Thachil A, Strules J, Olfenbuttel C, Datta S, DePerno CS. 2019. Leptospirosis in urban and suburban American black bears (*Ursus americanus*) in western North Carolina. *J Wildl Dis* 55:74–84. https://bioone.org/journals/Journal-of-Wildlife-Diseases/volume-55/issue-1/2017-10-263/LEPTOSPIROSIS-IN-URBAN-AND-SUBURBAN-AMERICAN-BLACK-BEARS-URSUS-AMERICANUS/10.7589/2017-10-263.full. Accessed January 2019.
- Sauer TM, Ben-David M, Bowyer RT. 1999. A new application of the adaptive-kernel method: Estimating linear home ranges of River Otters, *Lutra canadensis*. *Can Field-Nat* 113:419–424.

Sepúlveda MA, Singer RS, Silva-Rodríguez E, Stowhas P, Pelican K. 2014. Domestic dogs in rural communities around protected areas: Conservation problem or conflict solution? *PLoS One San Franc* 9:e86152.

http://search.proquest.com/docview/1490679748/abstract/9821C8DB75B246AEPQ/1. Accessed February 2019.

- Shapiro K, Miller M, Mazet J. 2012. Temporal association between land-based runoff events and california sea otter (*Enhydra lutris* nereis) protozoal mortalities. *J Wildl Dis* 48:394–404. http://www.bioone.org.prox.lib.ncsu.edu/doi/abs/10.7589/0090-3558-48.2.394. Accessed.
- Shearer KE, Harte MJ, Ojkic D, DeLay J, Campbell D. 2014. Detection of *Leptospira* spp. in wildlife reservoir hosts in Ontario through comparison of immunohistochemical and polymerase chain reaction genotyping methods. *Can Vet J* 55:240–248.
- Smith DD, Frenkel JK. 1995. Prevalence of antibodies to *Toxoplasma gondii* in wild mammals of Missouri and East Central Kansas: Biologic and ecologic considerations of transmission. *jwdi* 31:15–21. https://bioone.org/journals/Journal-of-Wildlife-Diseases/volume-31/issue-1/0090-3558-31.1.15/PREVALENCE-OF-ANTIBODIES-TO-span-classgenus-speciesTOXOPLASMA-GONDII-span-IN/10.7589/0090-3558-31.1.15.full. Accessed May 2019.

Spelman LH. 1998. North American river otter (*Lutra canadensis*) translocation in North Carolina 1989-1996. In: *European Association of Zoo and Wildlife Veterinarians*. Chester, United Kingdom. https://repository.si.edu/bitstream/handle/10088/11671/Spelman1998.pdf?sequence=1&is Allowed=y. Accessed March 2017.

- Stephenson AB. 1977. Age determination and morphological variation of Ontario otters. *Can J Zool* 55:1577–1583. http://www.nrcresearchpress.com/doi/abs/10.1139/z77-206. Accessed February 2017.
- Thibeaux R, Geroult S, Benezech C, Chabaud S, Soupé-Gilbert M-E, Girault D, Bierque E,
 Goarant C. 2017. Seeking the environmental source of Leptospirosis reveals durable
 bacterial viability in river soils. *PLoS Neglected Trop Dis San Franc* 11.
 http://search.proquest.com/docview/1878075516/abstract/FADE58166C8A42B5PQ/1.
 Accessed February 2019.
- Tocidlowski ME, Lappin MR, Sumner PW, Stoskopf MK. 1997. Serologic survey for toxoplasmosis in river otters. J Wildl Dis 33:649–652.
 http://www.jwildlifedis.org/doi/10.7589/0090-3558-33.3.649. Accessed February 2017.
- Vanwormer E, Conrad PA, Miller MA, Melli AC, Carpenter TE, Mazet JA, K. 2013. *Toxoplasma gondii*, Source to Sea: Higher contribution of domestic felids to terrestrial parasite loading despite lower infection prevalence. *EcoHealth N Y* 10:277–89. http://search.proquest.com/docview/1466162822/abstract/4417DD7157424F27PQ/1. Accessed February 2019.
- Vein J, Leblond A, Belli P, Kodjo A, Berny PJ. 2014. The role of the coypu (*Myocastor coypus*), an invasive aquatic rodent species, in the epidemiological cycle of leptospirosis: a study in two wetlands in the East of France. *Eur J Wildl Res* 60:125–133. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10344-013-0758-z. Accessed February 2019.
- White CL, Lankau EW, Lynch D, Knowles S, Schuler KL, Dubey JP, Shearn-Bochsler VI,
 Isidoro-Ayza M, Thomas NJ. 2018. Mortality trends in northern sea otters (*Enhydra lutris* kenyoni) collected from the coasts of Washington and Oregon, USA (2002–15). J

Wildl Dis 54:238–247. http://www.bioone.org/doi/10.7589/2017-05-122. Accessed December 2018.

Wilson KA. 1960. Management of the otter in North Carolina. Memo, North Carolina Wildlife Resources Commission. p. 4.

Zourkas E, Ward MP, Kelman M. 2015. Canine parvovirus in Australia: A comparative study of reported rural and urban cases. *Vet Microbiol* 181:198–203.
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378113515300493. Accessed February 2019.

	Total Mean	Brain Mean	Kidney Mean	Total Otters	Otters Positive	Otters Positive	Otters Positive	
	(percent)	(percent)	(percent)	Positive	(Brain)	(Kidney)	(Both Tissues)	
L. interrogans	0.014	0	0.014	3	0	3	0	
Parvovirus spp.	0.186	0.064	0.168	41	14	37	10	
T. gondii	0.241	0.241	0	53	53	0	0	

Table 1. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) results for each disease tested on 220 river otters (*Lontra canadensis*) from North Carolina, 2014-2015 and 2015-2016.

Table 2. Prevalence of *Leptospira interrogans*, *Parvovirus* spp., and *Toxoplasma gondii* in 220 river otters (*Lontra canadensis*) from North Carolina, 2014-2015 and 2015-2016.

Sex (%)				1	Age Class (%)				Furbearer Management Unit (%)			
Disease	Male	Female	0	1	2	3	4	Mountain	Piedmont	Coastal Plain		
n	161	90	57	109	42	17	27	13	99	140		
L. interrogans	2.1	0	0	2.1	0	6.3	0	0	1.1	1.6		
Parvovirus spp.	18.1	19.7	14.3	22.1	16.7	18.8	16.7	0	12.5	24.0		
T. gondii	18.8	34.2	18.4	22.1	27.8	31.3	33.3	42.9	33.0	16.8		

Table 3. Prevalence of *Leptospira interrogans*, *Parvovirus* spp., and *Toxoplasma gondii* in 220 river otters (*Lontra canadensis*) from North Carolina, 2014-2015 and 2015-2016. Sixteen specimens were unable to be assigned to a river basin because of a lack of precision in the location data. River Basins- AB/CH: Albemarle/Chowan, CF: Cape Fear, FB: French Broad, LPD: Lower Pee Dee, MTH: Middle Tennessee/Hiwassee, NE: Neuse, OB: Onslow Bay, PAM: Pamlico, ROA: Roanoke, SAN: Santee, UPD: Upper Pee Dee.

Disease	AB/CH (%)	CF (%)	FB (%)	LPD (%)	MTH (%)	NE (%)	PAM (%)	ROA (%)	SAN (%)	UPD (%)
n	44	66	11	24	1	21	14	9	10	36
L. interrogans	0	1.9	0	0	0	10.0	0	0	0	0
Parvovirus spp.	11.8	18.5	0	34.8	0	15.0	14.3	0	30.0	8.6
T. gondii	11.8	22.2	33.3	21.7	0	30.0	14.3	11.1	30.0	40.0
Table 4. Model selection results using Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC) for the effect of sex, age, river basin, and region on whether river otters (*Lontra canadensis*) tested positive for *Parvovirus* spp. by PCR in North Carolina, USA, in November-February 2014-16. Model weight = $\frac{exp(-0.5*\Delta AIC)}{\sum exp(-0.5*\Delta AIC)}$, K= number of parameters.

Model	AIC	ΔΑΙΟ	Model weight	K	Log like
River Basin + Age	206.09	0.00	0.247	11	184.09
FMU+ River Basin + Age	206.96	0.87	0.160	13	180.96
River Basin	207.91	1.82	0.100	10	187.91
River Basin + Sex + Age	208.06	1.97	0.092	12	184.06
FMU + River Basin	208.37	2.28	0.079	12	184.37
FMU + Age	208.39	2.30	0.078	4	200.39
FMU + River Basin + Sex + Age	208.80	2.71	0.064	14	180.80
River Basin + Sex	209.90	3.81	0.037	11	187.90
FMU	210.08	3.99	0.034	3	204.08
FMU + River Basin + Sex	210.33	4.24	0.030	13	184.33
FMU + Sex + Age	210.38	4.29	0.029	5	200.38
Age	210.96	4.87	0.022	2	206.96
FMU + Sex	212.02	5.93	0.013	4	204.02
Sex + Age	212.95	6.86	0.008	3	206.95
Null	213.60	7.51	0.006	1	211.60
Sex	215.51	9.42	0.002	2	211.51

Table 5. Model-averaged coefficients for the effects of age (per year), sex, FMU, and river basin on whether a river otter tested positive for *Parvovirus* spp. by PCR in North Carolina during 2014-2016.

			Unconditional 95%		
Variable	Estimate	Unconditional variance SE	confidence interval		
Age	0.007	0.134	(-0.256, 0.270)		
Sex (female)	-0.056	0.398	(-0.836, 0.724)		
FMU (Coastal Plain)	0.845	0.529	(-0.192, 1.883)		
FMU (Mountain)	-23.307	167431.461	(-328188.971, 328142.357)		
River Basin (Albemarle)	-2.245	0.763	(-3.740, -0.750)		
River Basin (Cape Fear)	-1.592	0.630	(-2.827, -0.356)		
River Basin (French Broad)	-15.063	174071.435	(-341195.075, 341164.949)		
River Basin (Lower Pee Dee)	-0.827	0.709	(-2.217, 0.563)		
River Basin (Neuse)	-1.844	0.817	(-3.446, -0.242)		
River Basin (Pamlico)	-1.976	0.940	(-3.819, -0.133)		
River Basin (Roanoke)	-24.928	92123.913	(-180587.798, 180537.941)		
River Basin (Santee)	-0.644	1.011	(-2.626, 1.338)		
River Basin (Upper Pee Dee)	-2.236	0.902	(-4.003, -0.469)		



Figure 1. River Basins and Furbearer Management Units in North Carolina, 2014-2015 and 2015-2016.



Figure 2. Probabilities of Parvovirus spp. infection in harvested North American river otters (Lontra canadensis) in North Carolina,

2014-2015 and 2015-2016.



Figure 3. Probabilities of T. gondii infection in harvested North American river otters (Lontra canadensis) in North Carolina, 2014-

2015 and 2015-2016.

CHAPTER THREE

METALS CONTAMINATION OF RIVER OTTERS IN NORTH CAROLINA ABSTRACT

Aquatic apex predators are particularly vulnerable to environmental contaminants due to biomagnification. Contaminants in North American river otter (Lontra canadensis) populations should be closely monitored because across their range there is a variety of point and nonpoint source pollution, from agriculture and development to industry. Nonetheless, no information exists on environmental contaminants in the North Carolina otter population. Metals and metalloids occur naturally across the landscape, are essential for cellular function, and only become toxic when concentrated unnaturally. We conducted our study across the three Furbearer Management Units (FMU) and 14 river basins of North Carolina. We collected otter carcasses from licensed trappers during the regulated 2009-10 through 2015-16 trapping seasons in North Carolina. We used inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry to determine the concentrations of arsenic, cadmium, calcium, cobalt, copper, iron, lead, magnesium, manganese, mercury, molybdenum, selenium, thallium, and zinc in each sample. We conducted analyses on liver and kidney samples from 317 otters harvested between November 2009 through February 2016. Arsenic (315 liver, 312 kidney), lead (307 liver, 311 kidney), and thallium (317 liver, 316 kidney) samples tested at levels below the limit of detection $(0.2, 0.1, 0.05, \mu g/g, respectively)$. All other elements were detected at higher levels in the liver samples compared to the kidney samples with the exception of cadmium. Specifically, cadmium, cobalt, copper, iron, magnesium, manganese, mercury, molybdenum, and zinc levels differed by tissue type analyzed. Most element concentrations remained stable or increased with age of the otters suggesting that

bioaccumulation occurred. We detected higher levels of mercury and selenium in the Lower Pee Dee and Cape Fear river basins within the Piedmont and Coastal Plain FMUs. River basins within the Mountain FMU were significantly higher in cadmium, copper, iron, lead, and zinc, whereas, the Coastal Plain FMU was lower in cobalt and manganese than the Mountain or the Piedmont FMUs. None of the elements occurred at toxic levels. Our research establishes baseline concentration levels for North Carolina which will benefit future monitoring efforts and provide insight into future changes in the otter population.

KEY WORDS

heavy metals, kidney, liver, Lontra canadensis, North Carolina, river otter, trace elements

INTRODUCTION

The North American river otter (*Lontra canadensis*, hereafter "otter") is the largest mustelid known to inhabit North Carolina. Colonial records indicate a statewide distribution until the 19th and early 20th centuries when unsustainable farming and logging practices coupled with unregulated harvest negatively impacted streams, fish stocks, and the otter population (Wilson 1960, Melquist and Dronkert 1987). Subsequently, North Carolina prohibited otter trapping between 1938-1946 (Wilson 1960) and translocated otters from the Coastal Plain to the Mountains from 1989-1996 (Spelman 1998); the statewide population recovered by 2005. Today, the North Carolina Wildlife Resources Commission (NCWRC) considers the population to be healthy and robust and manages otters with a regulated annual trapping season across the state.

Aquatic apex predators are particularly vulnerable to environmental contaminants due to biomagnification, and contaminants in otter populations should be closely monitored (Fairbrother 2001, Mason and Wren 2001). The International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) acknowledges that metals (e.g., mercury, lead, cadmium) can play a part in population declines where they occur in unnaturally high concentrations (Foster-Turley et al. 1990). Throughout the otter range, there is a variety of point and nonpoint source pollution, from agriculture and development to industry (Sackett et al. 2009, 2015, Miller and Mackin 2013, Martinez-Finley et al. 2015). However, to our knowledge, no information exists on the environmental contaminants in the North Carolina otter population.

Metals and metalloids occur naturally across the landscape, are essential for cellular function, and only become toxic when concentrated unnaturally (Hoffman et al. 2001). Examples of metals essential to bodily functions include calcium, cobalt, copper, iron, manganese, selenium, and zinc (Adriano 2001), whereas nonessential metals include arsenic, cadmium, lead, and mercury (Martinez-Finley et al. 2015). Mercury, cadmium, and lead are all believed to biomagnify (Hoffman et al. 2001, Evers et al. 2005). While mercury is only toxic as methylmercury (MeHg) because the methyl ion is required to facilitate biological functions, methylation can occur within the body (Rowland et al. 1975). Although the risk appears to be low, it is not negligible and is worthy of investigation (Osowski et al. 1995, Martín-Doimeadios et al. 2017).

Elements and metals have been documented in fur, brain, bone, kidney, and liver tissues of otters across their range including calcium, cadmium, cobalt, copper, mercury, iron, lead, magnesium, manganese, molybdenum, selenium, and zinc (Sheffy and Amant 1982, Anderson-Bledsoe and Scanlon 1983, Wren et al. 1988, Harding et al. 1998, Klenavic et al. 2008). Eisler

67

(2000) included arsenic, cadmium, copper, lead, mercury, molybdenum, selenium, and zinc in the Chemical Risk Assessment Handbook for the United States Geological Survey (USGS).

Arsenic, cadmium, and lead are known carcinogens that bioaccumulate and whose negative effects typically include reproductive issues such as low sperm count, fetal death, malformation, endocrine disruption, and death (Wadi and Ahmad 1999, Eisler 2000, Henson and Chedrese 2004, Burger 2008, Rzymski et al. 2015). Some species such as mallards (*Anas platyrhynchos*), zebrafish (*Danio rerio*), humans (*Homo sapiens*), and great tits (*Parus major*), have shown a sensitivity to low arsenic levels, particularly resulting in stunted growth (Camardese et al. 1990, Boyle et al. 2008, Rahman et al. 2017, Sánchez-Virosta et al. 2018). Although lead is commonly used by humans it is toxic when ingested and levels tend to be elevated near mining or smelting operations (Eisler 2000).

Calcium, copper, zinc, and molybdenum are all essential nutrients to bodily function (Eisler 2000). Calcium, copper, and zinc are parts of numerous essential molecules and enzymes that regulate processes such as melanin production and the biosynthesis of RNA and DNA (Eisler 2000). Molybdenum is a component of several enzymes required for various stages of metabolism and helps to regulate other metals such as copper and mercury (Eisler 2000). All three have many anthropogenic uses and at high concentrations can be toxic or result in medical issues such as kidney stones (Eisler 2000, Niemuth et al. 2014).

Mercury has no known biological benefit while selenium is an essential micronutrient that helps fight oxidation (Eisler 2000). Although industrial mercury emissions have been declining for some time, it is still released largely through fossil fuel combustion, waste incineration, cement production, and metals-related industry (Chalmers et al. 2011, Muntean et al. 2014, Weiss-Penzias et al. 2016, Obrist et al. 2018). Both elements occur naturally and

68

mercury bioaccumulates through trophic levels (Wolfe et al. 1998, Yang et al. 2008, Tan et al. 2016). Methylated mercury can be absorbed efficiently by the body, which can then show sublethal effects such as impairments on reproduction, growth, behavior, and sensory issues in low levels, and is lethal in high doses (Ullrich et al. 2001). Selenium deficiency can cause anemia, slow growth, and reduced fertility while excessive selenium over time is lethal (Flueck et al. 2012). Interestingly, selenium in organisms has an inverse relationship with mercury that can serve as protection against mercury toxicity (Yang et al. 2008).

The effects of overexposure to metals and metalloids on otters varies. Wolfe et al (1998) summarized the toxic effects (i.e., ataxia, anorexia, brain lesions, immune suppression, reduced vision and motor function, impaired fertility, and fetal death) of mercury on wildlife, noting that many effects are sublethal. Unfortunately, the direct effects of many elements other than mercury and lead are less well studied (Rattner and Shore 2001). Therefore, our objective was to establish baseline kidney and liver concentrations of arsenic, cadmium, calcium, cobalt, copper, iron, lead, magnesium, manganese, mercury, molybdenum, selenium, thallium, and zinc for otters throughout the state of North Carolina.

STUDY AREA

We conducted our study across North Carolina. For management purposes, the North Carolina Wildlife Resources Commission (NCWRC) divided the state into three Furbearer Management Units (FMUs; Mountain, Piedmont, and Coastal Plain) which followed physiographic regions and county boundaries (Figure 1). However, because otters are semiaquatic their territories are linear and tend to correspond with river basin geographic features (Melquist and Hornocker 1983; Melquist and Dronkert 1987; Reid et al. 1994; Sauer et al. 1999; Blundell et al. 2001). We also focused our study on the 14 river basins that occur throughout North Carolina (Figure 1).

METHODS

Data Collection:

We collected otter carcasses from licensed trappers during the regulated 2009-10 through 2015-16 trapping seasons for North Carolina. Trapping seasons began 1 November or 1 December and ended the last day of the subsequent February. Trappers provided the carcass, location of the trap, and the date removed from the trap. We kept the carcasses frozen until necropsy. During the necropsy, we collected four grams each of liver and kidney tissue and extracted the lower canine teeth for cementum annuli aging (Stephenson 1977). We sent all teeth to Matson's Laboratory (Manhattan, MT) for ageing, and we used 1 April as the birthdate for all otters to standardize age classes.

We sent the liver and kidney samples to the Pennsylvania Animal Diagnostics Laboratory (PADLS, New Bolton, Pennsylvania) for analyses. The PADLS used inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) to determine the concentrations of arsenic, cadmium, calcium, cobalt, copper, iron, lead, magnesium, manganese, mercury, molybdenum, selenium, thallium, and zinc in liver and kidney samples for each otter. We recorded results as µg/g wet weight.

Data Management and Modeling:

Spatially, we divided the specimens into FMUs and river basins (Figure 1) and used age classes from zero to four. For values below the limit of detection (LOD), we substituted the

value of the LOD divided by the square root of two $(\frac{LOD}{\sqrt{2}})$, and elements with less than 40% of samples testing below the LOD were considered suitable for robust analysis following the guidelines provided by Hornung and Reed (1990).

We used SAS TTEST and SAS MULTTEST to perform t-tests (pair-wise and 2-sample) with a Bonferroni Correction and one-way ANOVA's within SAS ANOVA (SAS Institute, Inc, Cary, NC, USA) to test for differences between individual categories. We used the Brown and Forsythe test to determine the homogeneity of variance (Brown and Forsythe 1974) and Welch's ANOVA to correct for variance heterogeneity (Welch 1947, 1951) when appropriate. We used Tukey's Honestly Significant Difference to determine differences within predictor classes.

RESULTS

From November 2009 through February 2016, we collected 823 otters from over 50 trappers and fur dealers. We processed liver and kidney samples from all 38 viable Mountain FMU specimens, and randomly selected 125 Piedmont FMU specimens and 154 Coastal Plain FMU specimens, for a total of 317 otters. Over 95% of arsenic (315 liver, 312 kidney), lead (307 liver, 311 kidney), and thallium (317 liver, 316 kidney) samples tested at levels below the LOD (0.2, 0.1, 0.05, μ g/g, respectively). Other elements that returned results below the LOD included cadmium (59 liver, 18 kidney), cobalt (6 liver, 32 kidney), mercury (22 liver, 26 kidney), and selenium (1 kidney) (0.02, 0.01, 0.5, 0.15 μ g/g, respectively, Table 1).

We compared results between livers and kidneys and detected differences for nine elements (i.e., cadmium, cobalt, copper, iron, magnesium, manganese, mercury, molybdenum, and zinc; P < 0.0001; Table 1). Also, we detected differences in liver tissue between males and females for copper (t = 5.16, df = 269, P < 0.0001) and molybdenum (t = -4.66, df = 315, P =

0.0001) concentrations (Table 2a). No differences were detected in kidney tissue between males and females (Table 2b).

Age class was significant in liver tissues for cadmium (F = 10.82, df = 312, P < 0.0001), copper (F = 2.54, df = 312, P = 0.0397), iron (F = 3.16, df = 312, P = 0.0144), magnesium (F = 3.09, df = 312, P = 0.0162), mercury (F = 2.63, df = 312, P = 0.0346), molybdenum (F = 3.17, df = 312, P = 0.0141), and selenium (F = 4.44, df = 312, P = 0.0017). Older age classes typically had higher concentrations of most elements, but were only significant (Q = 3.88, df = 312, α = 0.05) for cadmium, magnesium, molybdenum, and selenium in liver samples (Table 3a). Age class was significant in kidney tissues for cadmium (F = 11.09, df = 312, P < 0.0001), iron (F = 2.96, df = 312, P = 0.0200), mercury (F = 4.23, df = 312, P = 0.0024), and selenium (F = 6.92, df = 312, P < 0.0001). Older age classes were significantly higher for cadmium, iron, mercury, and selenium (Q = 3.88, df = 312, α = 0.05) in kidneys (Table 3b).

We detected differences between FMUs within livers for cadmium (F = 22.13, df = 314, P < 0.0001), cobalt (F = 66.19, df = 314, P < 0.0001), copper (F = 8.64, df = 314, P = 0.0002), manganese (F = 3.22, df = 314, P = 0.0415), mercury (F = 21.54, df = 314, P < 0.0001), molybdenum (F = 4.52, df = 314, P = 0.0116), selenium (F = 6.83, df = 314, P = 0.0012), and zinc (F = 7.46, df = 314, P = 0.0007). Cadmium and cobalt concentrations were higher in the Mountain FMU (Q = 3.33, df = 314, α = 0.05) (Table 2a). Copper concentrations were higher in Coastal Plain otters than in Piedmont otters, while the opposite was true for manganese (Table 2a). Mercury and selenium concentrations were highest in the Coastal Plain. Molybdenum was highest in the Piedmont while zinc was the lowest (Table 2a).

Differences between FMUs were detected within kidneys for cadmium (F = 20.41, df = 314, P < 0.0001), cobalt (F = 37.72, df = 314, P < 0.0001), copper (F = 5.31, df = 314, P =

0.0054), iron (F = 10.04, df = 314, P < 0.0001), magnesium (F = 3.26, df = 314, P = 0.0398), manganese (F = 6.77, df = 314, P = 0.0013), mercury (F = 7.90, df = 314, P = 0.0004), molybdenum (F = 7.01, df = 314, P = 0.0011), selenium (F = 10.77, df = 314, P < 0.0001), and zinc (F = 4.43, df = 314, P = 0.0126). Concentrations were typically higher in the Mountain FMU, particularly for cadmium, iron, and zinc (Q = 3.33, df = 314, α = 0.05) (Table 2b). The Coastal Plain FMU had the lowest concentrations of cobalt, manganese, and selenium, and the highest concentration of mercury (Table 2b). Copper concentrations were different between the Mountain and Coastal Plain FMUs, but neither were different from the Piedmont. Molybdenum was highest in the Piedmont, but the Mountains were not significantly different from the Piedmont or Coastal Plain (Table 2b).

Differences were detected in liver tissues between river basins for cadmium (F = 4.16, df = 314, P < 0.0001), calcium (F = 2.12, df = 314, P = 0.0225), cobalt (F = 7.60, df = 314, P < 0.0001), copper (F = 3.09, df = 314, P < 0.0009), mercury (F = 10.91, df = 314, P < 0.0001), and selenium (F = 2.56, df = 314, P = 0.0055). Cadmium concentrations were higher in the French Broad and Middle Tennessee/Hiwassee basins while calcium concentrations were highest in the Neuse and Onslow Bay basins (Q = 4.59, df = 306, α = 0.05) (Table 4a/b). Cobalt concentrations were highest in the Upper Pee Dee while copper concentrations were highest in the Lower Pee Dee and Onslow Bay. The Lower Pee Dee had the highest mercury and selenium concentrations, but the results were mixed for the other basins with the Cape Fear being second highest for mercury and Upper Pee Dee Second highest for selenium (Table 4a/b).

Differences were detected in kidney tissues between river basins for cadmium (F = 4.14, df = 314, P < 0.0001), cobalt (F = 4.54, df = 314, P < 0.0001), copper (F = 4.69, df = 314, P < 0.0001), iron (F = 2.68, df = 314, P = 0.0037), magnesium (F = 2.07, df = 314, P = 0.0270),

manganese (F = 2.08, df = 314, P = 0.0261), mercury (F = 6.88, df = 314, P < 0.0001), selenium (F = 2.82, df = 314, P = 0.0023), and zinc (F = 3.20, df = 314, P = 0.0006). Cadmium concentrations were highest in the Middle Tennessee/Hiwassee, Onslow Bay, and French Broad basins while calcium was highest in the Cape Fear and Onslow Bay basins (Q = 4.59, df = 306, α = 0.05) (Table 5a/b). Cobalt was highest in the Santee and Upper Pee Dee while copper was highest in Onslow Bay. Iron was highest in the French Broad while magnesium was highest in the Lower Pee Dee and selenium was highest in Onslow Bay, Middle Tennessee/Hiwassee, and the Santee basins. Mercury was highest in the Lower Pee Dee, and the Neuse basins (Table 5a/b). Zinc was highest in the Middle Tennessee/Hiwassee and Onslow Bay, and lowest in the Cape Fear and Albemarle/Chowan basins.

We reviewed five similar studies from around the United States and Canada (Anderson-Bledsoe and Scanlon 1983, Harding et al 1998, Klenavic et al 2008, Sheffy and Amant 1982, Wren et al 1988), and found that our values were consistently lower (Table 6). Mercury in particular was much lower than studies in Atlantic Canada and Wisconsin (Klenavic et al 2008, Sheffy and Amant 1982) in both liver and kidney tissue. Essential nutrients such as iron were also lower (Harding et al 1998, Wren et al 1988). We showed considerably lower values in cadmium, copper, lead, and zinc in both liver and kidney tissue than our northern neighbors in Virginia (Anderson-Bledsoe and Scanlon 1983).

DISCUSSION

Our study was one of the first to conduct a landscape level evaluation of element concentrations in river otters. For nearly every element tested, our concentrations were lower when compared to previous research (Sheffy and Amant 1982, Anderson-Bledsoe and Scanlon 1983, Wren et al. 1988, Harding et al. 1998, Klenavic et al. 2008), likely because our study was conducted statewide without a focus on sources of pollution. For example, otters tested by Harding et al (1998) and Wren et al (1988) were selected in part due to their proximity to smelting plants and pulp mills. It is likely the higher concentrations that Harding et al. (1998) detected, when compared to our study, were due to the elevated point-source pollution in the Fraser and Columbia watersheds where they conducted their study. Further, the levels detected in our study were much lower than those of our Virginia neighbor (Anderson-Bledsoe and Scanlon 1983), which may be due to the three decades of time between studies, and the amount of environmental clean-up and regulation that has taken place across the Southeast and the United States (Schmitt and Brumbaugh 1990, Bennear 2007, Stein and Cadien 2009, Anderson and Lockaby 2011, Cristan et al. 2016). To develop benchmark element concentration values, allow for comparisons between studies, and comparisons at the population and landscape level, we recommend that otters be sampled across the landscape regardless of point or non-point pollutions sources.

Livers and kidneys are filtering organs and typically used to evaluate element concentrations. We detected differences in cadmium, cobalt, copper, iron, magnesium, manganese, mercury, molybdenum, and zinc levels by tissue type and all (except for cadmium) were detected at higher concentrations in livers compared to kidneys. However, results within the respective organs are often mixed within and across studies which are further complicated by study site, FMU, and proximity to point and non-point pollution sources making comparisons between studies and FMUs difficult. Therefore, for broad-scale element evaluations in river otters, we recommend continuing to test liver and kidney tissue samples, and to evaluate element

75

concentrations across the landscape. Also, more research is needed to evaluate how these elements are filtered and stored within livers and kidneys.

While most element concentrations remained stable across age classes, some increased with age supporting the notion that some elements bioaccumulate (Boening 2000, Julian and Gu 2015, Martinez-Finley et al. 2015). We detected positive accumulation with age in several elements including cadmium, mercury, and selenium which are all typically associated with manufacturing (Lemly 2004, Burger 2008, Sackett et al. 2009). Selenium, like iron, is an essential nutrient that can be detrimental at excessive levels (Tan et al. 2016). Although yearling and older otters had elevated iron concentrations, they were below the concentrations from other studies (Wren et al. 1988, Harding et al. 1998). Adults have been recorded previously having higher iron levels than juveniles (Grove and Henny 2008), and iron does bioaccumulate in animal tissue (Jayaprakash et al. 2015). It is possible that diet could be the main influencer driving the higher iron concentrations in yearlings that we observed (Mylniczenko et al. 2012, Ratnarajah et al. 2016), but unfortunately, our location data was not precise enough to evaluate specific dietary influences.

Females had higher levels of copper (liver tissue only) and selenium (kidney tissue only) but lower levels of molybdenum. Females typically have smaller home ranges than males (Reid et al. 1994, Bowyer et al. 1995, Helon 2013), and the prey base changes throughout the year (Day et al. 2015). Small home ranges may amplify metal concentrations; however, larger home ranges may expose individuals to a wider range of elements. Because exposure levels are often reflective of the environment (Evans et al. 1998, Harding et al. 1998, Elliott et al. 1999, Ramos-Rosas et al. 2013) studies involving wide-ranging and indicator species (e.g., otters, mink) are necessary to understand concentrations of elements at the landscape, river basin, and FMU level (Ben-David et al. 2001, Crowley et al. 2018, Sutherland et al. 2018).

Changes in habitat and sources of pollution play an important role in the distribution of various elements across the river basins and FMUs (Sackett et al. 2009, Vermeulen et al. 2009, Fritsch et al. 2010, Stokeld et al. 2014, Woch et al. 2016, Liao et al. 2017, Moskovchenko et al. 2017, Ren et al. 2019). River basins are units that reflect water movement and drainage across a large landscape. Aquatic animals lend themselves to landscape level evaluations because they occupy and follow landscape level water movement (Ben-David et al. 2001, Carranza et al. 2012, Swinnen et al. 2017, Crowley and Hodder 2019). Further, pollutants from point and non-point sources are concentrated within and downstream of these basins and the home ranges of aquatic animals (Sargaonkar 2006, Leitch et al. 2007). Specifically, we detected higher levels of mercury and selenium in the Lower Pee Dee and Cape Fear basins within the Piedmont and Coastal Plain. It is possible that these higher levels could be from anthropogenic activities in the three major population centers of the Piedmont in North Carolina (Raleigh/Durham/Chapel Hill, Greensboro/Winston-Salem, and Charlotte-Mecklenburg), each with populations greater than 750,000 (United States Census Bureau 2019), from the multiple power plants (coal and nuclear) in the area, or from a number of manufacturing facilities (Sackett et al. 2009, 2010). The mercury concentrations in these river basins were similar to studies done in Eastern Canada (Klenavic et al. 2008) and Wisconsin (Sheffy and Amant 1982).

River basins within the Mountain FMU were significantly higher in cadmium, copper, iron, lead, and zinc, whereas, the Coastal Plain FMU was lower in cobalt and manganese than the Piedmont and Mountain FMUs. Interestingly, river basins from the Mountain FMU flow west into Tennessee and south into South Carolina with little water movement into the Piedmont and

77

Coastal Plain. River basins within the Piedmont move water south into South Carolina and into the North Carolina Coastal Plain and are responsible for moving pollutants across the landscape (Figure 1). Importantly, while some of the river basins we studied occur in two FMU's, none inhabit all three, and several (particularly in the Mountains) are either completely contained within a single FMU or flow out of state (Figure 1).

To our knowledge, specific thresholds for the elements we evaluated have not been established in river otters except for mercury. Mercury is a known endocrine disruptor and can have many sublethal effects on a variety of systems, including reproduction (Tan et al. 2009). While otters can handle larger concentrations of many toxins in their diet than smaller animals, mercury concentrations over 4 μ g/g of MeHg are lethal (Wolfe et al. 1998). Ranched mink have often been used for experimental studies in mustelids and the lowest observed adverse effect level for mink was a dietary concentration of 1.0 μ g/g of MeHg (Wobeser et al. 1976, Wolfe et al. 1998). Similar effects were observed in otters with lethal liver and kidney concentrations beginning at 20 μ g/g MeHg (O'Connor and Nielsen 1981, Osowski et al 1995). None of our specimens were at lethal levels. We provided statewide baseline levels for all elements including mercury, which will benefit future monitoring efforts and provide insight into future changes in the otter population.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the North Carolina Wildlife Resources Commission, the Federal Aid to Wildlife Restoration Program, and the Fisheries, Wildlife, and Conservation Biology Program at North Carolina State University for funding. We thank S. Ryan for countless hours collecting tissue samples. We thank the Pennsylvania Animal Diagnostics Laboratory for the professional

78

and relatively quick lab work. Finally, we thank the North Carolina Trappers' Association and its members for providing the otter carcasses and for supporting this project.

LITERATURE CITED

Adriano, D. C. 2001. Trace elements in terrestrial environments: biogeochemistry, bioavailability, and risks of metals. 2nd ed. Springer, New York. https://catalog.lib.ncsu.edu/record/NCSU1490714>.

Anderson, C. J., and B. G. Lockaby. 2011. The effectiveness of forestry best management practices for sediment control in the Southeastern United States: A Literature Review.
Southern Journal of Applied Forestry; Bethesda 35:170–177.
http://search.proquest.com/docview/911808661/citation/5C0E43AEF2F240FAPQ/1.
Accessed 21 Mar 2019.

Anderson-Bledsoe, K. L., and P. F. Scanlon. 1983. Heavy metal concentrations in tissues of
 Virginia river otters. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 30:442–
 447.

Ben-David, M., L. K. Duffy, G. M. Blundell, and R. T. Bowyer. 2001. Natural exposure of coastal river otters to mercury: Relation to age, diet, and survival. Environmental toxicology and chemistry 20:1986–1992.

">http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/etc.5620200917/full>. Accessed 15 Mar 2017.

- Bennear, L. S. 2007. Are management-based regulations effective? Evidence from state pollution prevention programs. Journal of Policy Analysis and Management 26:327–348. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/pam.20250>. Accessed 21 Mar 2019.
- Blundell, G. M., J. A. K. Maier, and E. M. Debevec. 2001. Linear home ranges: Effects of smoothing, sample size, and autocorrelation on kernel estimates. Ecological Monographs 71:469–489. http://esajournals.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1890/0012-

9615%282001%29071%5B0469%3ALHREOS%5D2.0.CO%3B2>. Accessed 28 Jan 2019.

- Boening, D. W. 2000. Ecological effects, transport, and fate of mercury: a general review.
 Chemosphere 40:1335–1351.
 http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0045653599002830>. Accessed 24
 Oct 2017.
- Bowyer, R. T., J. W. Testa, and J. B. Faro. 1995. Habitat selection and home ranges of river otters in a marine environment: Effects of the Exxon Valdez Oil Spill. Journal of Mammalogy 76:1–11. http://www.jstor.org/stable/1382309>. Accessed 28 Jan 2019.
- Boyle, D., K. V. Brix, H. Amlund, A.-K. Lundebye, C. Hogstrand, and N. R. Bury. 2008. Natural arsenic contaminated diets perturb reproduction in fish. Environmental Science & Technology 42:5354–5360. https://doi.org/10.1021/es800230w>. Accessed 17 Jan 2019.
- Brown, M. B., and A. B. Forsythe. 1974. The small sample behavior of some statistics which test the equality of several means. Technometrics 16:129–132. http://www.jstor.org/stable/1267501. Accessed 13 Mar 2019.
- Burger, J. 2008. Assessment and management of risk to wildlife from cadmium. Science of The Total Environment 389:37–45. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048969707008649. Accessed 19 Jan 2019.
- Camardese, M. B., D. J. Hoffman, L. J. LeCaptain, and G. W. Pendleton. 1990. Effects of arsenate on growth and physiology in mallard ducklings. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 9:785–795.

http://setac.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/etc.5620090613>. Accessed 17 Jan 2019.

- Carranza, M. L., E. D'Alessandro, S. Saura, and A. Loy. 2012. Connectivity providers for semiaquatic vertebrates: the case of the endangered otter in Italy. Landscape Ecology 27:281– 290. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-011-9682-3>. Accessed 25 Mar 2019.
- Chalmers, A. T., D. M. Argue, D. A. Gay, M. E. Brigham, C. J. Schmitt, and D. L. Lorenz. 2011.
 Mercury trends in fish from rivers and lakes in the United States, 1969–2005.
 Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 175:175–191.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-010-1504-6
- Cristan, R., W. M. Aust, M. C. Bolding, S. M. Barrett, J. F. Munsell, and E. Schilling. 2016. Effectiveness of forestry best management practices in the United States: Literature review. Forest Ecology and Management 360:133–151. Special Section: Forest Management for Climate Change.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378112715005824>. Accessed 4 Mar 2019.

- Crowley, S. M., and D. P. Hodder. 2019. Factors influencing exposure of North American river otter (*Lontra canadensis*) and American mink (*Neovison vison*) to mercury relative to a large-scale reservoir in northern British Columbia, Canada. Ecotoxicology 28:343–353. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-019-02027-z. Accessed 24 Mar 2019.
- Crowley, S. M., D. P. Hodder, C. J. Johnson, and D. Yates. 2018. Wildlife health indicators and mercury exposure: A case study of river otters (*Lontra canadensis*) in central British Columbia, Canada. Ecological Indicators 89:63–73.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1470160X18300682>. Accessed 28 Jan 2019.

- Day, C. C., M. D. Westover, and B. R. McMillan. 2015. Seasonal diet of the northern river otter (*Lontra canadensis*): what drives prey selection? Canadian Journal of Zoology 93:197–205. http://www.nrcresearchpress.com/doi/abs/10.1139/cjz-2014-0218>. Accessed 28 Jan 2019.
- Eisler, R. 2000. Handbook of chemical risk assessment. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton. https://catalog.lib.ncsu.edu/record/NCSU1384995>.
- Elliott, J. E., C. J. Henny, M. L. Harris, L. K. Wilson, and R. J. Norstrom. 1999. Chlorinated hydrocarbons in livers of American mink (*Mustela vison*) and river otter (*Lutra canadensis*) from the Columbia and Fraser River basins, 1990–1992. Environmental monitoring and assessment 57:229–252.

http://www.springerlink.com/index/X482L5QG17R65314.pdf>. Accessed 15 Mar 2017.

- Evans, R. D., E. M. Addison, J. Y. Villeneuve, K. S. MacDonald, and D. G. Joachim. 1998. An examination of spatial variation in mercury concentrations in otter (*Lutra canadensis*) in south-central Ontario. Science of the Total Environment 213:239–245.
 http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048969798000965>. Accessed 15 Mar 2017.
- Evers, D. C., N. M. Burgess, L. Champoux, B. Hoskins, A. Major, W. M. Goodale, R. J. Taylor,
 R. Poppenga, and T. Daigle. 2005. Patterns and interpretation of mercury exposure in
 freshwater avian communities in northeastern North America. Ecotoxicology 14:193–
 221. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-004-6269-7>. Accessed 27 Mar 2019.

- Fairbrother, A. 2001. Putting the Impacts of Environmental Contamination into Perspective.Pages 671–690 *in*. Ecotoxicology of Wild Mammals. Ecological and Evnironmental Toxicology, Wiley, Chichester.
- Flueck, W. T., J. M. Smith-Flueck, J. Mionczynski, and B. J. Mincher. 2012. The implications of selenium deficiency for wild herbivore conservation: a review. European Journal of Wildlife Research 58:761–780. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10344-012-0645-z>. Accessed 27 Mar 2019.
- Foster-Turley, P., I. O. S. Group, S. M. Macdonald, and C. F. Mason. 1990. Otters: an action plan for their conservation. International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources, Gland, Switzerland. https://catalog.lib.ncsu.edu/record/NCSU931524>.
- Fritsch, C., P. Giraudoux, M. Cœurdassier, F. Douay, F. Raoul, C. Pruvot, C. Waterlot, A. de Vaufleury, and R. Scheifler. 2010. Spatial distribution of metals in smelter-impacted soils of woody habitats: Influence of landscape and soil properties, and risk for wildlife. Chemosphere 81:141–155.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0045653510007496>. Accessed 25 Mar 2019.

- Grove, R. A., and C. J. Henny. 2008. Environmental contaminants in male river otters from
 Oregon and Washington, USA, 1994–1999. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment
 145:49–73. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10661-007-0015-6. Accessed 12 Jan
 2018.
- Harding, L. E., M. L. Harris, and J. E. Elliott. 1998. Heavy and trace metals in wild mink
 (*Mustela vison*) and river otter (*Lontra canadensis*) captured on rivers receiving metals discharges. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 61:600–607.

<http://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/s001289900803.pdf>. Accessed 15 Mar 2017.

Helon, D. A. 2013. Summer movements and activity patterns of river otters in Northeastern
Ohio, USA. Proceedings of the International Academy of Ecology and Environmental
Sciences; Hong Kong 3:181.
">http://search.proquest.com/docview/1430635475/abstract/F52C6DB553624243PQ/1>.

Accessed 4 Feb 2019.

- Henson, M. C., and P. J. Chedrese. 2004. Endocrine disruption by cadmium, a common environmental toxicant with paradoxical effects on reproduction. Experimental Biology and Medicine 229:383–392. https://doi.org/10.1177/153537020422900506>. Accessed 20 Jan 2019.
- Hoffman, D. J., B. A. Rattner, I. Scheunert, and F. Korte. 2001. Environmental Contaminants.
 Pages 1–48 *in*. Ecotoxicology of Wild Mammals. Ecological and Evnironmental
 Toxicology, John Wiley & Sons, LTD, West Sussex, England.
- Hornung, R. W., and L. D. Reed. 1990. Estimation of average concentration in the presence of nondetectable values. Applied Occupational and Environmental Hygiene 5:46–51. http://tripsaver.lib.ncsu.edu/pdf/1041632.pdf>. Accessed 24 Oct 2018.
- Jayaprakash, M., R. S. Kumar, L. Giridharan, S. B. Sujitha, S. K. Sarkar, and M. P. Jonathan. 2015. Bioaccumulation of metals in fish species from water and sediments in macrotidal Ennore creek, Chennai, SE coast of India: A metropolitan city effect. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 120:243–255.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0147651315002651>. Accessed 21 Mar 2019.

- Julian, P., and B. Gu. 2015. Mercury accumulation in largemouth bass (*Micropterus salmoides* Lacépède) within marsh ecosystems of the Florida Everglades, USA. Ecotoxicology 24:202–214. <<u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10646-014-1373-9</u>>. Accessed 24 Oct 2017.
- Klenavic, K., L. Champoux, O. Mike, P.-Y. Daoust, R. D. Evans, and H. E. Evans. 2008. Mercury concentrations in wild mink (*Mustela vison*) and river otters (*Lontra canadensis*) collected from eastern and Atlantic Canada: Relationship to age and parasitism. Environmental Pollution 156:359–366.
 http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0269749108000948. Accessed 26 Feb 2017.
- Leitch, D. R., J. Carrie, D. Lean, R. W. Macdonald, G. A. Stern, and F. Wang. 2007. The delivery of mercury to the Beaufort Sea of the Arctic Ocean by the Mackenzie River. Science of The Total Environment 373:178–195. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048969706008230>. Accessed 25 Mar 2019.
- Lemly, A. D. 2004. Aquatic selenium pollution is a global environmental safety issue. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 59:44–56. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0147651303000952>. Accessed 27 Mar 2019.
- Liao, J., Jian Chen, X. Ru, Jundong Chen, H. Wu, and C. Wei. 2017. Heavy metals in river surface sediments affected with multiple pollution sources, South China: Distribution, enrichment and source apportionment. Journal of Geochemical Exploration 176:9–19.
 Potentially Toxic Metals in the Environment.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0375674216301935>. Accessed 25 Mar 2019.

Martín-Doimeadios, R. C. R., R. Mateo, and M. Jiménez-Moreno. 2017. Is gastrointestinal microbiota relevant for endogenous mercury methylation in terrestrial animals?
Environmental Research 152:454–461.
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0013935116302535>. Accessed 1 Jan

2018.

- Martinez-Finley, E. J., S. Caito, S. Fretham, P. Chen, and M. Aschner. 2015. Metal Toxicology. Pages 171–185 *in* A.-D. M. B, editor. Mammalian Toxicology. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/9781118683484.ch8/summary. Accessed 24 Oct 2017.
- Mason, C. F., and C. D. Wren. 2001. Carnivora. Pages 315–370 *in*. Ecotoxicology of Wild Mammals. Ecological and environmental toxicology series, Wiley, Chichester.
- Melquist, W. E., and A. E. Dronkert. 1987. River Otter. Pages 626–641 *in* J. Bedford and G. Thompson, editors. Wild furbearer management and conservation in North America Section IV: Species biology, management, and conservation. Ashton-Potter Limited, Concord, Ontario, Canada.
- Melquist, W. E., and M. G. Hornocker. 1983. Ecology of River Otters in West Central Idaho. Wildlife Monographs 83:3–60.
- Miller, J. R., and G. Mackin. 2013. Concentrations, sources, and potential ecological impacts of selected trace metals on aquatic biota within the Little Tennessee River Basin, North Carolina. Water, Air, & Soil Pollution 224:1613.
 http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11270-013-1613-2>. Accessed 18 Aug 2018.

Moskovchenko, D. V., A. N. Kurchatova, N. N. Fefilov, and A. A. Yurtaev. 2017.

Concentrations of trace elements and iron in the Arctic soils of Belyi Island (the Kara Sea, Russia): patterns of variation across landscapes. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 189:210. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-017-5928-0>. Accessed 25 Mar 2019.

Muntean, M., G. Janssens-Maenhout, S. Song, N. E. Selin, J. G. J. Olivier, D. Guizzardi, R.
Maas, and F. Dentener. 2014. Trend analysis from 1970 to 2008 and model evaluation of EDGARv4 global gridded anthropogenic mercury emissions. Science of The Total Environment 494–495:337–350.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048969714008572>. Accessed 27 Mar 2019.

- Mylniczenko, N. D., K. E. Sullivan, M. E. Corcoran, G. J. Fleming, and E. V. Valdes. 2012.
 Management strategies of iron accumulation in a captive population of black
 rhinoceroses (*Diceros bicornis minor*). Journal of Zoo and Wildlife Medicine 43.
 ">https://bioone.org/journals/Journal-of-Zoo-and-Wildlife-Medicine/volume-43/issue-3s/2011-0168.1/MANAGEMENT-STRATEGIES-OF-IRON-ACCUMULATION-IN-A-CAPTIVE-POPULATION-OF/10.1638/2011-0168.1.full>">https://bioone.org/journals/Journal-of-Zoo-and-Wildlife-Medicine/volume-43/issue-3s/2011-0168.1/MANAGEMENT-STRATEGIES-OF-IRON-ACCUMULATION-IN-A-CAPTIVE-POPULATION-OF/10.1638/2011-0168.1.full>">https://bioone.org/journals/Journal-of-Zoo-and-Wildlife-Medicine/volume-43/issue-3s/2011-0168.1/MANAGEMENT-STRATEGIES-OF-IRON-ACCUMULATION-IN-A-CAPTIVE-POPULATION-OF/10.1638/2011-0168.1.full>">https://bioone.org/journals/Journal-of-Zoo-and-Wildlife-Medicine/volume-43/issue-3s/2011-0168.1.full>">https://bioone.org/journals/Journal-of-Zoo-and-Wildlife-Medicine/volume-43/issue-3s/2011-0168.1.full>">https://bioone.org/journals/Journal-of-Zoo-and-Wildlife-Medicine/volume-43/issue-3s/2011-0168.1.full>">https://bioone.org/journals/Journal-of-Zoo-and-Wildlife-Medicine/volume-43/issue-3s/2011-0168.1.full>">https://bioone.org/journals/Journal-of-Zoo-and-Wildlife-Medicine/volume-43/issue-3s/2011-0168.1.full>">https://bioone.org/journals/Journal-of-Zoo-and-Wildlife-Medicine/volume-43/issue-3s/2011-0168.1.full>">https://bioone.org/journals/Journal-of-Zoo-and-Wildlife-Medicine/volume-43/issue-3s/2011-0168.1.full>">https://>
- Niemuth, J. N., C. W. Sanders, C. B. Mooney, C. Olfenbuttel, C. S. DePerno, and M. K. Stoskopf. 2014. Nephrolithiasis in free-ranging North American River Otter (*Lontra canadensis*) in North Carolina, USA. Journal of Zoo and Wildlife Medicine 45:110–117. <a href="https://bioone.org/journals/Journal-of-Zoo-and-Wildlife-Medicine/volume-45/issue-1/2013-0135R2.1/NEPHROLITHIASIS-IN-FREE-RANGING-NORTH-AMERICAN-1/2013-0135R2.1/NEPHROLITHIASIS-IN-FREE-RANGING-NORTH-AMERICAN-

RIVER-OTTER-iLONTRA-CANADENSIS/10.1638/2013-0135R2.1.full>. Accessed 19 Feb 2019.

- Obrist, D., J. L. Kirk, L. Zhang, E. M. Sunderland, M. Jiskra, and N. E. Selin. 2018. A review of global environmental mercury processes in response to human and natural perturbations:
 Changes of emissions, climate, and land use. Ambio 47:116–140.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-017-1004-9
- O'Connor, D. J., and S. W. Nielsen. 1981. Environmental survey of methylmercury levels in wild mink (*Mustela vison*) and otter (*Lutra canadensis*) from the northeastern United States and experimental pathology of methylmercurialism in the otter. Pages 1728–1745 *in*. Proceedings, Worldwide Furbearer Conference. Volume 3. Frostburg, MD.
- Osowski, S. L., L. W. Brewer, O. E. Baker, and G. P. Cobb. 1995. The decline of mink in Georgia, North Carolina, and South Carolina: The role of contaminants. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 29:418–423. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00212510>. Accessed 3 May 2019.
- Rahman, A., C. Granberg, and L.-Å. Persson. 2017. Early life arsenic exposure, infant and child growth, and morbidity: a systematic review. Archives of Toxicology 91:3459–3467. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00204-017-2061-3>. Accessed 17 Jan 2019.
- Ramos-Rosas, N. N., C. Valdespino, J. García-Hernández, J. P. Gallo-Reynoso, and E. J. Olguín. 2013. Heavy metals in the habitat and throughout the food chain of the Neotropical otter, *Lontra longicaudis*, in protected Mexican wetlands. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 185:1163–1173. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10661-012-2623-z. Accessed 26 Feb 2017.

- Ratnarajah, L., S. Nicol, S. Kawaguchi, A. T. Townsend, D. Lannuzel, K. M. Meiners, and A. R.
 Bowie. 2016. Understanding the variability in the iron concentration of Antarctic krill.
 Limnology and Oceanography 61:1651–1660.
 http://aslopubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/lno.10322>. Accessed 21 Mar 2019.
- Rattner, B. A., and R. F. Shore. 2001. Ecotoxicology of wild mammals. Ecological and environmental toxicology series, Wiley, Chichester. https://catalog.lib.ncsu.edu/record/NCSU1474159>.
- Reid, D. G., T. E. Code, A. C. H. Reid, and S. M. Herrero. 1994. Spacing, movements, and habitat selection of the river otter in boreal Alberta. Canadian Journal of Zoology 72:1314–1324. http://www.nrcresearchpress.com/doi/abs/10.1139/z94-175. Accessed 28 Jan 2019.
- Ren, H., Q. Zhou, J. He, Y. Hou, Y. Jiang, J. L. M. Rodrigues, A. B. Cobb, G. W. T. Wilson, J. Hu, and Y. Zhang. 2019. Determining landscape-level drivers of variability for over fifty soil chemical elements. Science of The Total Environment 657:279–286.
 http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048969718348642>. Accessed 25 Mar 2019.
- Rowland, I. R., P. Grasso, and M. J. Davies. 1975. The methylation of mercuric chloride by human intestinal bacteria. Experientia 31:1064–1065. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/BF02326961>. Accessed 1 Jan 2018.
- Rzymski, Piotr, K. Tomczyk, Pawel Rzymski, B. Poniedziałek, T. Opala, and M. Wilczak. 2015. Impact of heavy metals on the female reproductive system. Annals of Agricultural and

Environmental Medicine 22:259–264. http://www.aaem.pl/Impact-of-heavy-metals-on-the-female-reproductive-system,72271,0,2.html>. Accessed 15 Mar 2019.

- Sackett, D. K., D. D. Aday, J. A. Rice, and W. G. Cope. 2009. A statewide assessment of mercury dynamics in North Carolina water bodies and fish. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 138:1328–1341. http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1577/T08-178.1. Accessed 26 Feb 2017.
- Sackett, D. K., D. D. Aday, J. A. Rice, W. G. Cope, and D. Buchwalter. 2010. Does proximity to coal-fired power plants influence fish tissue mercury? Ecotoxicology 19:1601–1611. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10646-010-0545-5>. Accessed 24 Oct 2017.
- Sackett, D. K., C. L. Pow, M. J. Rubino, D. D. Aday, W. G. Cope, S. Kullman, J. A. Rice, T. J. Kwak, and M. Law. 2015. Sources of endocrine-disrupting compounds in North Carolina waterways: A geographic information systems approach. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 34:437–445. http://setac.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/etc.2797>. Accessed 15 Apr 2018.
- Sánchez-Virosta, P., S. Espín, S. Ruiz, J.-P. Salminen, A. J. García-Fernández, and T. Eeva.
 2018. Experimental manipulation of dietary arsenic levels in great tit nestlings:
 Accumulation pattern and effects on growth, survival and plasma biochemistry.
 Environmental Pollution 233:764–773.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0269749117331214>. Accessed 17 Jan 2019.

Sargaonkar, A. 2006. Estimation of land use specific runoff and pollutant concentration for Tapi river basin in India. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 117:491–503. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-006-0769-2>. Accessed 25 Mar 2019.

- Sauer, T. M., M. Ben-David, and R. T. Bowyer. 1999. A new application of the adaptive-kernel method: Estimating linear home ranges of River Otters, *Lutra canadensis*. Canadian Field-Naturalist 113:419–424.
- Schmitt, C. J., and W. G. Brumbaugh. 1990. National contaminant biomonitoring program:
 Concentrations of arsenic, cadmium, copper, lead, mercury, selenium, and zinc in U.S.
 Freshwater Fish, 1976–1984. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 19:731–747. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01183991
- Sheffy, T. B., and J. R. St. Amant. 1982. Mercury burdens in furbearers in Wisconsin. The Journal of Wildlife Management 46:1117.

http://www.jstor.org/stable/3808255?origin=crossref>. Accessed 26 Feb 2017.

Spelman, L. H. 1998. North American river otter (*Lutra canadensis*) translocation in North Carolina 1989-1996. European Association of Zoo and Wildlife Veterinarians. Chester, United Kingdom.

<https://repository.si.edu/bitstream/handle/10088/11671/Spelman1998.pdf?sequence=1& isAllowed=y>. Accessed 15 Mar 2017.

- Stein, E. D., and D. B. Cadien. 2009. Ecosystem response to regulatory and management actions: The southern California experience in long-term monitoring. Marine Pollution Bulletin 59:91–100. Environmental Records of Anthropogenic Impacts on Coastal Ecosystems. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0025326X09000976>. Accessed 4 Mar 2019.
- Stephenson, A. B. 1977. Age determination and morphological variation of Ontario otters. Canadian Journal of Zoology 55:1577–1583.

http://www.nrcresearchpress.com/doi/abs/10.1139/z77-206>. Accessed 26 Feb 2017.

- Stokeld, D., A. J. Hamer, R. van der Ree, V. Pettigrove, and G. Gillespie. 2014. Factors influencing occurrence of a freshwater turtle in an urban landscape: a resilient species?
 Wildlife Research 41:163–171. <https://bioone.org/journals/Wildlife-Research/volume-41/issue-2/WR13205/Factors-influencing-occurrence-of-a-freshwater-turtle-in-an-urban/10.1071/WR13205.full>. Accessed 25 Mar 2019.
- Sutherland, C., A. K. Fuller, J. A. Royle, and S. Madden. 2018. Large-scale variation in density of an aquatic ecosystem indicator species. Scientific Reports (Nature Publisher Group); London 8:1–10. http://search.proquest.com/docview/2054061294/abstract/FD93CBF92CD0422DPQ/1>. Accessed 25 Mar 2019.
- Swinnen, K. R., R, D. Strubbe, E. Matthysen, and H. Leirs. 2017. Reintroduced Eurasian beavers (*Castor fiber*): colonization and range expansion across human-dominated landscapes.
 Biodiversity & Conservation; Dordrecht 26:1863–1876.
 http://search.proquest.com/docview/1912090531/abstract/38D11933558B4F8BPQ/1.
 Accessed 25 Mar 2019.
- Tan, L. C., Y. V. Nancharaiah, E. D. van Hullebusch, and P. N. L. Lens. 2016. Selenium: environmental significance, pollution, and biological treatment technologies. Biotechnology Advances 34:886–907.
 http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0734975016300623>. Accessed 27 Mar 2019.
- Tan, S. W., J. C. Meiller, and K. R. Mahaffey. 2009. The endocrine effects of mercury in humans and wildlife. Critical Reviews in Toxicology 39:228–269.

<https://proxying.lib.ncsu.edu/index.php?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?dire ct=true&db=fzh&AN=37140623&site=ehost-live&scope=site>. Accessed 15 Jan 2018.

Ullrich, S. M., T. W. Tanton, and S. A. Abdrashitova. 2001. Mercury in the aquatic environment: A review of factors affecting methylation. Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology; Boca Raton 31:241.

<https://search.proquest.com/docview/219164226/citation/A0DD7F0087FA4D7FPQ/1>. Accessed 24 Oct 2017.

- United States Census Bureau. 2019. Annual Estimates of the Resident Population: April 1, 2010 to July 1, 2017. American Fact Finder. Database record. ">https://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?pid=PEP_2017_PEPANNRES&prodType=table>">https://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?pid=PEP_2017_PEPANNRES&prodType=table>">https://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?pid=PEP_2017_PEPANNRES&prodType=table>">https://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?pid=PEP_2017_PEPANNRES&prodType=table>">https://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?pid=PEP_2017_PEPANNRES&prodType=table>">https://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?pid=PEP_2017_PEPANNRES&prodType=table>">https://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?pid=PEP_2017_PEPANNRES&prodType=table>">https://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?pid=PEP_2017_PEPANNRES&prodType=table>">https://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?pid=PEP_2017_PEPANNRES&prodType=table>">https://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?pid=PEP_2017_PEPANNRES&prodType=table>">https://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?pid=PEP_2017_PEPANNRES&prodType=table>">https://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/page
- Vermeulen, F., N. W. Van den Brink, H. D'Havé, V. K. Mubiana, R. Blust, L. Bervoets, and W. De Coen. 2009. Habitat type-based bioaccumulation and risk assessment of metal and As contamination in earthworms, beetles and woodlice. Environmental Pollution 157:3098–3105. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0269749109002486. Accessed 25 Mar 2019.
- Wadi, S. A., and G. Ahmad. 1999. Effects of lead on the male reproductive system in mice. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A 56:513–521. https://doi.org/10.1080/009841099157953>. Accessed 15 Mar 2019.
- Weiss-Penzias, P. S., D. A. Gay, M. E. Brigham, M. T. Parsons, M. S. Gustin, and A. ter Schure. 2016. Trends in mercury wet deposition and mercury air concentrations across the U.S. and Canada. Science of The Total Environment 568:546–556.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048969716300614>. Accessed 27 Mar 2019.

- Welch, B. L. 1947. The generalization of `student's' problem when several different population variances are involved. Biometrika 34:28–35. http://www.jstor.org/stable/2332510>. Accessed 13 Mar 2019.
- Welch, B. L. 1951. On the comparison of several mean values: An alternative approach.
 Biometrika 38:330–336. https://academic.oup.com/biomet/article/38/3-4/330/257875>.
 Accessed 13 Mar 2019.
- Wilson, K. A. 1960. Management of the otter in North Carolina. Memo, North Carolina Wildlife Resources Commission.
- Wobeser, G., N. O. Nielsen, and Schiefer. 1976. Mercury and mink. I. The use of mercury contaminated fish as a food for ranch mink. Canadian Journal of Comparative Medicine 40:30–33. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1277515/. Accessed 15 Jan 2018.
- Woch, M. W., P. Kapusta, and A. M. Stefanowicz. 2016. Variation in dry grassland communities along a heavy metals gradient. Ecotoxicology 25:80–90. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-015-1569-7>. Accessed 25 Mar 2019.
- Wolfe, M. F., S. Schwarzbach, and R. A. Sulaiman. 1998. Effects of mercury on wildlife: A comprehensive review. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 17:146–160.
 http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/etc.5620170203/abstract>. Accessed 15 Jan 2018.
- Wren, C. D., K. L. Fischer, and P. M. Stokes. 1988. Levels of lead, cadmium and other elements in mink and otter from Ontario, Canada. Environmental Pollution 52:193–202.
<http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0269749188900036>. Accessed 26 Feb 2017.

		Liver			Kidney	
Element	Mean	SE	Median	Mean	SE	Median
Arsenic ^a	0.14	0.0004	0.14	0.14	0.0008	0.14
Cadmium ^{ab}	0.06	0.0041	0.04	0.2	0.0156	0.11
Calcium	123	4.7878	94	126	5.6311	98
Cobalt ^{ab}	0.03	0.0010	0.03	0.02	0.0008	0.02
Copper ^b	8.05	0.2549	6.80	3.69	0.0465	3.60
Iron ^b	284	6.1591	278	153	2.5066	149
Lead ^a	0.07	0.0275	0.07	0.07	0.0165	.07
Magnesium ^b	181	1.5499	176	153	1.4821	147
Manganese ^b	2.74	0.0512	2.57	0.72	0.0197	0.63
Mercury ^{ab}	2.58	0.1420	1.70	1.68	0.0794	1.24
Molybdenum ^b	0.80	0.0114	0.76	0.18	0.0022	0.18
Selenium ^a	1.34	0.0340	1.20	1.30	0.0179	1.29
Thallium ^a	0.04	0.0000	0.04	0.035	0.0016	0.04
Zinc ^b	26.71	0.3037	25.50	21.53	0.2186	20.70

Table 1. Heavy and trace element loads in 317 North Carolina river otters (*Lontra canadensis*), 2009-2016. Units were measured in μ g/g. ^aSamples tested below the Limit of Detection. ^bSignificant difference (p<0.05) between kidney and liver sample levels.

Table 2a. Heavy and trace elements from livers by sex and Furbearer Management Unit (FMU) in 317 North Carolina river otters (*Lontra canadensis*), 2009-2016. Units measured in μ g/g. ^aMajority of samples tested below the Limit of Detection. ^cStatistically significant difference between sexes (P < 0.05). ^dStatistically significant difference between FMU's (P < 0.05). Capital letters indicate significance grouping according to Tukey's test (P < 0.05).

		Sex	(SE)	FMU (SE)			
Element	μ (SE)	Μ	F	С	Р	Μ	
n	317	167	150	154	125	38	
As ^a	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	
Cd ^{ad}	0.06 (0.00)	0.06 (0.01)	0.06 (0.01)	0.05 (0.00) B	0.06 (0.00) B	0.13 (0.02) A	
Ca	122.55 (4.79)	117.28 (6.11)	128.42 (7.48)	131.92 (6.71)	112.83 (8.12)	116.57 (11.51)	
Co ^d	0.03 (0.00)	0.03 (0.00)	0.03 (0.00)	0.02 (0.00) C	0.04 (0.00) A	0.03 (0.00) B	
Cu ^{cd}	8.05 (0.25)	6.83 (0.28)	9.41 (0.41)	9.10 (0.42) A	6.92 (0.31) B	7.52 (0.59) AB	
Fe	283.95 (6.16)	283.38 (6.00)	284.57 (11.20)	289.12 (11.04)	283.83 (6.65)	263.34 (12.63)	
Pb ^a	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	0.08 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	
Mg	180.83 (1.55)	181.81 (2.27)	179.73 (2.09)	182.73 (2.26)	177.70 (2.49)	183.39 (3.96)	
\mathbf{Mn}^{d}	2.74 (0.05)	2.73 (0.08)	2.75 (0.07)	2.64 (0.07) B	2.90 (0.08) A	2.64 (0.13) AB	
Hg^d	2.58 (0.14)	2.42 (0.16)	2.76 (0.25)	3.48 (0.25) A	1.79 (0.15) B	1.51 (0.14) B	
Mo ^{cd}	0.80 (0.01)	0.84 (0.02)	0.74 (0.02)	0.77 (0.02) B	0.84 (0.02) A	0.77 (0.03) B	
Se ^d	1.34 (0.03)	1.27 (0.04)	1.41 (0.06)	1.46 (0.06) A	1.23 (0.04) B	1.18 (0.05) B	
Tl ^a	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	
Zn ^d	26.71 (0.30)	26.52 (0.45)	26.93 (0.40)	27.52 (0.44) A	25.30 (0.46) B	28.07 (0.87) A	

Liver

Table 2b. Heavy and trace elements from kidneys by sex and Furbearer Management Unit (FMU) in 317 North Carolina river otters (*Lontra canadensis*), 2009-2016. Units measured in $\mu g/g$. ^aMajority of samples tested below the Limit of Detection. ^cStatistically significant difference between sexes (P < 0.05). ^dStatistically significant difference between FMU's (P < 0.05). Capital letters indicate significance grouping according to Tukey's test (P < 0.05).

		Sex	(SE)	FMU (SE)			
Element	μ (SE)	Μ	F	С	Р	Μ	
n	317	167	150	154	125	38	
As ^a	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	
Cd^d	0.2 (0.02)	0.20 (0.02)	0.19 (0.02)	0.14 (0.01) B	0.20 (0.02) B	0.44 (0.09) A	
Ca	125.78 (5.63)	128.49 (7.77)	122.75 (8.19)	136.44 (8.67)	113.85 (8.05)	121.78 (16.09)	
Co ^d	0.02 (0.00)	0.02 (0.01)	0.02 (0.00)	0.02 (0.00) B	0.03 (0.00) A	0.02 (0.00) A	
$\mathbf{C}\mathbf{u}^{\mathrm{d}}$	3.69 (0.05)	3.66 (0.07)	3.72 (0.06)	3.54 (0.06) B	3.78 (0.07) AB	3.97 (0.16) A	
Fe ^d	152.75 (2.51)	153.69 (3.31)	151.71 (3.82)	143.86 (3.17) B	156.02 (3.94) B	178.05 (9.00) A	
Pb ^a	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	0.08 (0.01)	
Mg^d	152.55 (1.48)	154.00 (1.90)	150.93 (2.31)	148.95 (1.99)	154.89 (2.33)	159.42 (5.23)	
Mn ^d	0.72 (0.02)	0.75 (0.03)	0.69 (0.03)	0.65 (0.02) B	0.79 (0.03) A	0.80 (0.06) A	
Hg ^d	1.68 (0.08)	1.76 (0.11)	1.59 (0.12)	2.00 (0.13) A	1.42 (0.10) B	1.26 (0.11) B	
\mathbf{Mo}^{d}	0.18 (0.00)	0.19 (0.00)	0.18 (0.00)	0.18 (0.00) B	0.19 (0.00) A	0.18 (0.01) AB	
Se ^d	1.30 (0.02)	1.26 (0.02)	1.35 (0.03)	1.22 (0.03) B	1.38 (0.02) A	1.37 (0.04) A	
Tl ^a	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	
Zn ^d	21.53 (0.22)	21.93 (0.32)	21.09 (0.29)	21.25 (0.31) B	21.35 (0.30) B	23.27 (0.7) A	

Kidney

	Liver								
	Age Class (SE)								
Element	μ (SE)	0	1	2	3	4+			
n	317	65	105	53	32	62			
As ^a	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.15 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)			
Cd ^{ab}	0.06 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00) C	0.04 (0.00) C	0.07 (0.01) BC	0.10 (0.01) AB	0.10 (0.11) A			
Ca	122.55 (4.79)	120.43 (9.35)	120.71 (8.25)	108.61 (7.31)	123.53 (10.94)	139.30 (15.38)			
Co	0.03 (0.00)	0.03 (0.00)	0.03 (0.00)	0.03 (0.00)	0.03 (0.00)	0.03 (0.00)			
Cu ^b	8.05 (0.25)	9.12 (0.68)	7.74 (0.37)	7.78 (0.55)	9.33 (1.18)	7.03 (0.43)			
Fe ^b	283.95 (6.16)	245.49 (8.94) B	304.81 (14.76) A	291.68 (10.04) AB	275.09 (15.90) AB	286.89 (10.45) AB			
Pb ^a	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	0.08 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)			
Mg ^b	180.83 (1.55)	184.00 (3.30) AB	178.64 (2.46) AB	172.09 (3.02) B	191.47 (5.58) A	183.18 (4.12) AB			
Mn	2.74 (0.05)	2.90 (0.14)	2.66 (0.09)	2.68 (0.12)	2.80 (0.15)	2.73 (0.10)			
Hg ^b	2.58 (0.14)	1.97 (0.20)	2.33 (0.24)	2.80 (0.32)	3.42 (0.49)	3.01 (0.43)			

0.81 (0.03) AB

1.41 (0.06) AB

0.04 (0.00)

25.96 (0.72)

0.85 (0.05) A

1.50 (0.10) A

0.04 (0.00)

28.66 (1.10)

0.77 (0.02) AB

1.28 (0.06) AB

0.04 (0.00)

25.92 (0.51)

Mo^b

Se^b

Tl^a

Zn

0.80 (0.01)

1.34 (0.03)

0.04 (0.00)

26.71 (0.30)

0.75 (0.02) AB

1.12 (0.05) B

0.04 (0.00)

27.09 (0.62)

Table 3a. Heavy and trace elements from livers by age class in 317 North Carolina river otters (*Lontra canadensis*), 2009-2016. Units measured in μ g/g. ^aSamples tested below the Limit of Detection. ^bStatistically significant difference between age classes (P < 0.05). Capital letters indicate significance grouping according to Tukey's test (P < 0.05).

0.85 (0.03) A

1.51 (0.10) A

0.04(0.00)

27.30 (0.71)

Table 3b.	Heavy and tra	ice elements fro	om kidneys by ag	ge class in 317 Nor	th Carolir	na river otters (Lont	ra canadensis),	2009-2016.
Units meas	sured in $\mu g/g$.	^a Majority of sa	mples tested bel	ow the Limit of De	etection. ^t	Statistically signification	cant difference	between age
classes (P ·	< 0.05). Capit	al letters indica	te significance g	rouping according	to Tukey	's test ($P < 0.05$).		

	Kidney								
				Age Class (SE)					
Element	μ (SE)	0	1	2	3	4+			
n	317	65	105	53	32	62			
As ^a	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.15 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)			
Cd^b	0.2 (0.02)	0.11 (0.01) B	0.11 (0.01) B	0.20 (0.02) B	0.25 (0.04) B	0.41 (0.06) A			
Ca	125.78 (5.63)	120.71 (8.50)	131.71 (10.60)	111.44 (8.74)	106.86 (6.39)	143.05 (18.91)			
Co	0.02 (0.00)	0.02 (0.00)	0.02 (0.00)	0.02 (0.00)	0.02 (0.00)	0.02 (0.00)			
Cu	3.69 (0.05)	3.45 (0.10)	3.68 (0.08)	3.76 (0.11)	3.78 (0.14)	3.83 (0.11)			
Fe ^b	152.75 (2.51)	136.71 (5.80) B	158.77 (4.05) A	152.77 (6.18) AB	153.32 (9.32) AB	159.07 (5.03) A			
Pb ^a	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)			
Mg	152.55 (1.48)	153.98 (2.76)	154.50 (2.88)	150.10 (3.81)	151.94 (5.03)	150.13 (2.88)			
Mn	0.72 (0.02)	0.67 (0.04)	0.73 (0.04)	0.73 (0.05)	0.78 (0.06)	0.72 (0.04)			
Hg ^b	1.68 (0.08)	1.23 (0.14) AB	1.50 (0.12) AB	1.98 (0.20) A	2.06 (0.27) A	2.01 (0.21) A			
Mo	0.18 (0.00)	0.18 (0.01)	0.19 (0.00)	0.19 (0.00)	0.18 (0.01)	0.18 (0.00)			
Se ^b	1.30 (0.02)	1.20 (0.04) B	1.24 (0.03) B	1.40 (0.04) A	1.31 (0.05) AB	1.43 (0.04) A			
Tl ^a	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.03 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)			
Zn	21.53 (0.22)	21.20 (0.40)	21.41 (0.36)	21.32 (0.53)	21.87 (0.93)	22.10 (0.53)			

Table 4a. Heavy and trace elements from livers by Mountain/Piedmont river basin in 317 North Carolina river otters (*Lontra canadensis*), 2009-2016. Units measured in μ g/g. ^aMajority of samples tested below the Limit of Detection. ^bBasin showed a significant difference (P < 0.05) from the mean in liver samples. River Basins- AB/CH: FB: French Broad, MTH: Middle Tennessee/Hiwassee, SAN: Santee, UPD: Upper Pee Dee. Capital letters indicate significance grouping according to Tukey's test (P < 0.05).

	Liver							
	Mountain/Piedmont River Basin							
Element	μ (SE)	FB	MTH	SAN	UPD			
n	317	32	1	24	35			
As ^a	0.14 (0)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)			
Cd ^b	0.06 (0.00)	0.12 (0.03) A	0.16 (0.00) A	0.09 (0.02) AB	0.07 (0.01) AB			
Ca ^b	123 (4.79)	107.91 (12.25) AB	115.00 (0.00) AB	113.14 (11.02) AB	81.06 (4.72) AB			
Co ^b	0.03 (0.00)	0.03 (0.00) C	0.03 (0.00) C	0.04 (0.00) AB	0.04 (0.00) A			
Cu ^b	8.05 (0.25)	7.74 (0.69) AB	4.16 (0.00) B	7.66 (0.67) AB	6.16 (0.37) B			
Fe	284 (6.16)	259.75 (14.22)	274.00 (0.00)	272.08 (14.68)	287.00 (10.14)			
Pb ^a	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)			
Mg	181 (1.55)	181.63 (4.19)	194.00 (0.00)	189.33 (5.03)	178.74 (5.09)			
Mn	2.74 (0.05)	2.70 (0.15)	2.55 (0.00)	3.01 (0.20)	2.95 (0.13)			
Hg ^b	2.58 (0.14)	1.63 (0.15) C	0.35 (0.00) C	1.25 (0.18) C	1.27 (0.25) C			
Mo	0.80 (0.01)	0.77 (0.04)	0.66 (0.00)	0.86 (0.05)	0.83 (0.03)			
Se ^b	1.34 (0.03)	1.19 (0.06) B	1.60 (0) AB	1.20 (0.05) B	1.16 (0.07) B			
Tl ^a	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)			
Zn	26.71 (0.30)	27.64 (0.96)	36.50 (0.00)	28.12 (0.91)	25.52 (0.96)			

Table 4b. Heavy and trace elements from livers by Piedmont/Coastal Plain river basin in 317 North Carolina river otters (*Lontra canadensis*), 2009-2016. Units measured in μ g/g. ^aMajority of samples tested below the Limit of Detection. ^bBasin showed a significant difference (P < 0.05) from the mean in liver samples. River Basins- AB/CH: Albemarle/Chowan, CF: Cape Fear, LPD: Lower Pee Dee, NE: Neuse, OB: Onslow Bay, PAM: Pamlico, ROA: Roanoke. Capital letters indicate significance grouping according to Tukey's test (P < 0.05).

	Piedmont/Coastal Plain River Basin								
Element	μ (SE)	AB/CH	CF	LPD	NE	OB	PAM	ROA	
n	317	39	43	37	42	2	40	18	
As ^a	0.14 (0)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	
Cd^b	0.06 (0.00)	0.04 (0.01) AB	0.05 (0.01) AB	0.06 (0.01) AB	0.05 (0.01) AB	0.10 (0.02) AB	0.05 (0.01) AB	0.04 (0.01) AB	
Ca ^b	123 (4.79)	107.99 (8.20) AB	130.34 (14.40) AB	140.58 (9.41) AB	150.88 (17.63) A	192.50 (44.50) A	135.10 (19.81) AB	125.54 (22.48) AB	
Co ^b	0.03 (0.00)	0.02 (0.00) C	0.03 (0.00) BC	0.02 (0.00) C	0.03 (0.00) C	0.02 (0.00) C	0.03 (0.00) C	0.04 (0.00) ABC	
Cu ^b	8.05 (0.25)	7.75 (0.78) AB	8.42 (0.69) AB	10.58 (1.15) A	7.68 (0.55) AB	16.60 (3.70) A	8.55 (0.73) AB	6.81 (0.57) AB	
Fe	284 (6.16)	284.28 (15.62)	319.86 (33.75)	285.41 (13.35)	298.40 (12.48)	241.00 (88.00)	253.80 (10.84)	285.22 (16.03)	
Pb ^a	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	0.09 (0.01)	0.08 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	0.08 (0.01)	0.07 (0.00)	
Mg	181 (1.55)	176.33 (3.40)	182.58 (4.74)	185.97 (4.54)	184.74 (4.92)	179.50 (2.50)	175.73 (3.70)	169.17 (6.92)	
Mn	2.74 (0.05)	2.48 (0.09)	2.84 (0.16)	2.71 (0.19)	2.61 (0.11)	2.51 (0.06)	2.74 (0.13)	2.75 (0.34)	
Hg^{b}	2.58 (0.14)	2.15 (0.21) BC	3.36 (0.48) B	5.63 (0.67) A	2.86 (0.30) BC	1.28 (0.41) C	2.08 (0.22) BC	2.40 (0.44) BC	
Мо	0.80 (0.01)	0.74 (0.02)	0.78 (0.03)	0.84 (0.05)	0.80 (0.03)	0.81 (0.26)	0.75 (0.02)	0.84 (0.05)	
Se ^b	1.34 (0.03)	1.22 (0.10) B	1.44 (0.11) AB	1.69 (0.16) A	1.42 (0.08) AB	0.89 (0.13) B	1.27 (0.07) AB	1.44 (0.13) AB	
Tla	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	
Zn	26.71 (0.30)	26.90 (0.88)	25.74 (0.78)	26.23 (0.73)	27.25 (0.94)	37.30 (2.40)	26.33 (0.64)	26.56 (1.70)	

Liver

Table 5a. Heavy and trace elements from kidneys by Mountain/Piedmont river basin in 317 North Carolina river otters (*Lontra canadensis*), 2009-2016. Units measured in μ g/g. ^aMajority of samples tested below the Limit of Detection. ^bBasin showed a significant difference (P < 0.05) from the mean in kidney samples. River Basins- AB/CH: FB: French Broad, MTH: Middle Tennessee/Hiwassee, SAN: Santee, UPD: Upper Pee Dee. Capital letters indicate significance grouping according to Tukey's test (P < 0.05).

	Kidney							
	Mountain/Piedmont River Basin							
Element	μ (SE)	FB	MTH	SAN	UPD			
n	317	32	1	24	35			
As ^a	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)			
Cd^b	0.2 (0.02)	0.40 (0.10) A	0.51 (0.00) A	0.34 (0.10) AB	0.23 (0.04) ABC			
Ca	126 (5.63)	123.99 (18.79)	59.90 (0.00)	104.61 (8.91)	84.79 (3.56)			
Co ^b	0.02 (0.00)	0.02 (0.00) AB	0.02 (0.00) AB	0.03 (0.00) A	0.03 (0.00) A			
Cu ^b	3.69 (0.05)	3.97 (0.19) B	4.04 (0.00) AB	3.78 (0.16) B	3.95 (0.14) B			
Fe ^b	153 (2.51)	176.78 (10.10) A	166.00 (0.00) AB	166.33 (9.93) AB	163.51 (7.87) AB			
Pb ^a	0.07 (0.00)	0.08 (0.01)	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)			
Mg ^b	153 (1.48)	157.41 (5.84) AB	170.00 (0.00) A	165.25 (5.74) A	151.15 (3.64) AB			
Mn ^b	0.72 (0.02)	0.79 (0.07)	0.78 (0.00)	0.85 (0.10)	0.82 (0.05)			
Hg ^b	1.68 (0.08)	1.34 (0.12) BC	0.66 (0.00) C	1.01 (0.09) C	1.13 (0.18) C			
Мо	0.18 (0.00)	0.18 (0.01)	0.21 (0.00)	0.19 (0.01)	0.20 (0.01)			
Se ^b	1.30 (0.02)	1.38 (0.06) A	1.54 (0.00) A	1.34 (0.05) AB	1.37 (0.04) A			
Tl ^a	0.035 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)			
Zn ^b	21.53 (0.22)	22.78 (0.92) BC	35.50 (0.00) A	22.13 (0.73) BC	21.45 (0.61) BC			

Table 5b. Heavy and trace elements from kidneys by river basin in 317 North Carolina river otters (*Lontra canadensis*), 2009-2016. Units measured in μ g/g. ^aMajority of samples tested below the Limit of Detection. ^bBasin showed a significant difference (P < 0.05) from the mean in kidney samples. River Basins- AB/CH: Albemarle/Chowan, CF: Cape Fear, LPD: Lower Pee Dee, NE: Neuse, OB: Onslow Bay, PAM: Pamlico, ROA: Roanoke. Capital letters indicate significance grouping according to Tukey's test (P < 0.05).

	Piedmont/Coastal Plain River Basin								
Element	μ (SE)	AB/CH	CF	LPD	NE	OB	PAM	ROA	
n	317	39	43	37	42	2	40	18	
As ^a	0.14 (0.00)	0.15 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.15 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	0.14 (0.00)	
Cd^b	0.2 (0.02)	0.11 (0.02) AC	0.18 (0.03) ABC	0.14 (0.02) ABC	0.16 (0.03) ABC	0.50 (0.19) A	0.13 (0.02) ABC	0.14 (0.02) ABC	
Ca	126 (5.63)	131.10 (14.02)	157.63 (28.95)	139.00 (10.71)	129.69 (10.18)	248.00 (50.00)	130.96 (16.29)	100.57 (10.44)	
Co ^b	0.02 (0.00)	0.02 (0.00) AB	0.02 (0.00) AB	0.01 (0.00) B	0.02 (0.00) AB	0.02 (0.00) AB	0.02 (0.00) AB	0.02 (0.00) AB	
Cu ^b	3.69 (0.05)	3.16 (0.14) B	3.54 (0.08) B	3.63 (0.10) B	3.64 (0.13) B	5.99 (0.81) A	3.72 (0.10) B	3.86 (0.19) B	
Fe ^b	153 (2.51)	134.06 (6.90) B	145.96 (5.47) AB	146.22 (7.03) AB	157.58 (6.54) AB	165.5 (17.50) AB	142.52 (5.99) B	148.12 (5.93) AB	
Pb ^a	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	0.08 (0.00)	0.07 (0.00)	
Mg^b	153 (1.48)	141.6 (3.52) AB	146.37 (3.05) AB	152.95 (4.30) AB	157.83 (5.57) AB	178.50 (9.50) A	152.90 (2.93) AB	150.67 (5.03) AB	
Mn ^b	0.72 (0.02)	0.57 (0.04)	0.67 (0.07)	0.67 (0.04)	0.74 (0.04)	0.83 (0.14)	0.76 (0.06)	0.59 (0.03)	
Hg ^b	1.68 (0.08)	1.24 (0.13) BC	2.07 (0.27) B	3.03 (0.29) A	1.97 (0.24) BC	0.89 (0.16) C	1.45 (0.21) BC	1.60 (0.19) BC	
Mo	0.18 (0.00)	0.17 (0.01)	0.18 (0.01)	0.18 (0.01)	0.19 (0.01)	0.20 (0.00)	0.19 (0.01)	0.19 (0.00)	
Se ^b	1.30 (0.02)	1.08 (0.06) AB	1.31 (0.04) AB	1.30 (0.07) AB	1.37 (0.05) A	1.63 (0.09) A	1.30 (0.05) AB	1.27 (0.06) AB	
Tl ^a	0.035 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	0.03 (0.00)	0.04 (0.00)	
Zn ^b	21.53 (0.22)	20.74 (0.78) C	20.66 (0.59) C	21.38 (0.45) BC	21.47 (0.46) BC	29.90 (1.90) AB	21.38 (0.38) BC	21.61 (0.88) BC	

Kidney

	Liver	Kidney			
Element	Other Study Means	Our Mean	Other Study Means	Our Mean	
Arsenic	-	0.14	-	0.14	
Cadmium	$0.12^{\rm a}, 0.42^{\rm b}$	0.06	0.51 ^a	0.20	
Calcium	220 ^b , 80.89 ^c	123	104 ^c	126	
Cobalt	0.25 ^b	0.03	-	0.02	
Copper	12.47 ^a , 24.87 ^b , 8.89 ^c	8.05	$4.89^{\rm a}, 4.06^{\rm c}$	3.69	
Iron	1121 ^b , 348 ^c	284	169 ^c	153	
Lead	$2.14^{\rm a}, 0.77^{\rm b}$	0.07	1.19 ^a	0.07	
Magnesium	603 ^b , 185 ^c	181	149 ^c	153	
Manganese	10.79 ^b , 2.80 ^c	2.74	0.72 ^c	0.72	
Mercury	2.68 ^b , 7.15 ^d , 3.34 ^e	2.58	8.47 ^e	1.68	
Molybdenum	1.92 ^b	0.80	-	0.18	
Selenium	6.72 ^b	1.34	-	1.3	
Zinc	96.30 ^a , 79.82 ^b , 24.48 ^c	26.71	121ª, 21.46 ^c	21.53	

Table 6. Heavy and trace metal loads in river otters (*Lontra canadensis*) from other studies, measured in μ g/g (Anderson-Bledsoe and Scanlon 1983^a; Harding et al. 1998^b; Klenavic et al. 2008^d; Sheffy and Amant 1982^e; Wren et al. 1988^c).



Figure 1. Furbearer Management Units (FMU) and river basins of North Carolina.